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Letter from the Chairman
Dear Shareholder,

2012  
A Year of 
consolidation in 
difficult financial 
times
Dear Shareholder

I began last year’s letter with “2011 – a very exciting 
year” and spoke of financial year 2011 being a  
company-changing year and calendar year 2011 looking 
like being a company-making year. That was all true 
because at 1 July 2010, AZH’s market cap was $13m, at 
30 June 2011 it was $96m and at 31 December 2011 it 
was $189m.

Financial year 2012 has proved to be much more 
challenging. With the difficult world wide economic 
circumstances, your directors have focused on 
consolidating the company’s position. Although your 
company is in the best business (mining) and the best 
commodity (gold) we still have been affected by the 
general stock market malaise. Whilst I acknowledge that 
AZH’s share price is not as high as most shareholders 
would want, on analysis it is clear that we have fared 
better than most. By way of example, $100 invested in 
AZH at 30 June 2011 would at 30 June 2012 have been 
worth $130 which compares most favourably with the 
ASX/S&P 300 index under which the value would have 
fallen to $89. It represents an increase in price from 
28.5 cents to 37 cents over a period when most junior 
explorers’ share prices have fallen considerably. 

In addition to preserving value for shareholders, over the 
past year we have achieved most of the objectives we set 
for ourselves at the start of the year. We have increased 
our land holdings in a country (Guyana) which has a 
world-class gold endowment. AZH now controls most 
of the ground within 240km of strike in this major gold 
belt. We have achieved our maiden JORC and NI-43/101 
compliant resource statement announcing 1.22 million 
ounces of gold at a grade of 3.1 grams per tonne. In 
a high cost mining world, grade is confirmed as king 
and we are fortunate to have such high grade deposits. 
Notwithstanding our significant exploration expenditure 
($16 million in financial year 2012) we have ensured 
sufficient funding to remain financially strong, having 
$8 million in cash at year end (and since then we have 
raised a further $6 million).

Operationally we have strengthened our team in Guyana. 
We engaged Paul Criddle as Chief Operating Officer in 
October 2011. We were extremely fortunate to recruit 

Paul who has demonstrated his commitment to the 
company by moving his wife and young family to the 
other side of the world to permit him to take a hands on 
role with Azimuth’s Guyana operations. He has shown 
his abilities by keeping exploration operations running 
smoothly whilst cutting costs significantly. On the 
geology side we have again been fortunate by engaging 
Aaron McLeod as Exploration Manager. Both Paul and 
Aaron now have more than 6 months experience in 
country and complement our other personnel in country 
who are a mix of Guyana “old hands” and people new to 
the country.

On the corporate front, we have completed our dual 
listing on the Canadian TSX although the state of the 
North American market at present is such that we  
have not yet been able to take any real advantage of 
this listing. 

On the positive side as a result of Canadian listing, we 
persuaded Sean Harvey to join us as a non-executive 
director in April 2012. Sean lives in Toronto, has 
economics and legal qualifications as well as an MBA 
and has over 20 years’ mining industry experience, more 
than 10 of which were in investment banking in North 
America, primarily focused on the mining sector.  He has 
held many board positions on mining companies and 
currently sits on the board of Perseus Mining Limited. I 
am very pleased Sean has joined our team.

One goal which we set but which remains unachieved 
is the appointment of a North American based Chief 
Executive Officer. We are still working on it.

In the absence of a North American based Chief 
Executive Officer Richard Monti has continued to serve 
the company as executive director. In addition to his 
many years’ experience as a geologist, his expertise 
in the corporate and capital raising world has proved 
invaluable to Azimuth. 

Our founder and former managing director Dominic 
O’Sullivan has taken the opportunity of relinquishing his 
hands-on duties and stepped back to become a non-
executive director. I would like to express the Company’s 
great appreciation to Dominic for all his hard work in 
producing the successful exploration results which are 
the foundation of the Company’s success. 

We have retained the good relationship with the 
Guyanese government which has existed since the 
establishment of the Company. I visited Guyana three 
times in financial year 2012 and the board held a 
meeting there during which we met the (then) President. 
I am very pleased that our Chief Operating Officer Paul 
Criddle has been able to build on these relationships 
and meet regularly with the Hon. Robert Persaud, 
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Guyana’s Minister of Natural Resources and the 
Environment.

During financial year 2012 we drilled 59,000 metres. 
Even after our cost cutting exercises, we still have three 
rigs drilling in country. At present we are spending 
around $750,000 per month on drilling. Our next 
immediate objective is to significantly increase our 
resource above the presently announced 1.22Moz.

We are still drilling in and near the Smarts, Hicks and 
Kaburi areas. We have begun site preparation and camp 
establishment at our East Omai grass roots exploration 
project (100 km east of Smarts/Hicks/Kaburi) and by 
the time of the AGM we will have commenced drilling 
there on drilling targets already established by our 
geophysical investigations. East Omai is on the same 
greenstone belt as Smarts/Hicks/Kaburi but because it 
is covered by sand it has not been worked by artisanal 
miners who did not have AZH’s technology to discover 
sand covered mineralisation.

The Company’s camp on site at West Omai really is first 
class. We now have approval to construct an airstrip 
at West Omai which will remove the inconvenient road 
access (seven hours drive from the capital, Georgetown). 
With the Government announcing the go-ahead for the 
Amalia Falls hydro-electric project, even the road access 
has improved over the past year. Financing of the hydro-
electric project is expected during this financial year.

Azimuth is actively committed to employing local  
people. We employ approximately 75 Guyanese.  
We have been training local people as geologists and 
engineers. The Company has awarded study bursaries 
to support 5 geologists in their final 2 years of study 
at the University of Guyana.  We are committed to 
improving the ratio of women working for us – and not 
just in the office (we have a female geologist and  
female operators on site).

I think Azimuth is in the right place at the right time. 
Guyana is a great place for a gold explorer to operate. It 
is an English speaking stable democracy with an English 
system of law. It has modern mining legislation and 
a reasonable tax regime. It has a thriving indigenous 
small scale gold mining industry. The Guyanese 
government would appear to be committed to facilitate 
significant exploration and mining operations because 
in financial year 2012 the government signed mineral 
development agreements with both Guyana Goldfields 
and Sandspring Resources.

I thank shareholders for supporting us in this 
challenging year - and I assure you that all of the team 
at Azimuth is focused on creating shareholder wealth.

To the Azimuth senior executives mentioned above 
(Richard, Paul and Aaron) and the rest of our team in 
Guyana, and also to my fellow non-executive directors 
Dominic O’Sullivan, Dean Felton and Sean Harvey and to 
company secretary Josh Ward, I express my thanks for 
everything that has been achieved in financial year 2012. 

I am pleased to present to you the Annual Report for 
Azimuth Resources Ltd for the year ended June 30, 2012 
and I hope you will agree with me that much has been 
achieved in difficult circumstances.

Yours truly,

The Hon. Robert Persaud, Guyana’s Minister of 
Natural Resources and the Environment, being 
briefed by Azimuth Chief Operating Officer Paul 
Criddle on the latest West Omai resource drillout 
activities (Thursday 27 September).

Mr Michael Hunt  
Non-Executive Chairman
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Directors’ Report

Your Directors have pleasure in submitting their report 
on the Group for the year ended 30 June 2012.

DIRECTORS 
The names of Directors in office at  
any time during or since the end of  
the year are:

Michael Hunt 
Non-Executive Chairman 
(appointed 18 February 2011)

Dominic O’Sullivan 
Non-Executive Director 
(appointed 19 January 2010)

Dean Felton 
Non-Executive Director 
(appointed 12 October 2007)

Richard Monti 
Executive Director 
(appointed 7 November 2008)

Terence Sean Harvey 
Non-Executive Director 
(appointed 23 April 2012)

Mr Michael Hunt BA, LLB (Hons) 
Non-Executive Chairman

EXPERIENCE & EXPERTISE 
Michael is a highly experienced and well regarded Perth based lawyer. He was a partner at Parker & Parker (which became 
Freehills) then Blake Dawson Waldron (which has become Ashurst) until he established Hunt & Humphry in 1996 as a 
specialist project law firm practising in all aspects of resource development.

Michael has worked in mining and petroleum law in Perth for over 40 years. He has extensive experience consulting  
for the mineral exploration, mining and petroleum industries to both government and non-government clients, nationally  
and internationally.

Michael has maintained a role in the mining corporate world by participating for over 30 years as a director of ASX listed junior 
exploration and mining companies. He was the founding Chairman of Red Back Mining NL (formerly ASX listed) which became 
Red Back Mining Inc (listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange) of which he remained a Non-Executive Director until November 
2010. Over a period of 10 years he helped take Red Back from junior Australian explorer, through gold production in Ghana and 
Mauritania to a merger with Kinross Gold Corporation to form one of the world’s top 5 gold companies. He was Chairman of 
Geographe Resources Ltd when it participated in the successful Chalice Gold Mine and Chairman of Comdek Ltd (subsequently 
Resource Generation Ltd) an ASX listed Company with significant coal resources in South Africa.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Mr Hunt currently holds no other Directorships in listed companies.

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS 
Non-Executive Chairman – A1 Minerals Ltd (appointed 31 October 2003, resigned 4 November 2011). 
Non-Executive Chairman – Clean Global Energy Limited (appointed 14 August 2006, resigned 9 October 2009).

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
Member of Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
Member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
Chair of Corporate Governance Committee.

OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Mr Dominic O’Sullivan BSc (Hons), MAusIMM 
Non-Executive Director

EXPERIENCE & EXPERTISE 
Dominic graduated with honours from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor of Science in geology. Dominic has over  
20 years experience working for various mining and exploration companies in developing countries including Burkina Faso, 
Ghana, Jamaica and Guyana, 14 years of which were spent in West Africa and the Guiana Shield. He has been the driving force 
behind the acquisition of Azimuth’s portfolio of uranium and gold properties and resides in Georgetown, Guyana.

Dominic also has experience in corporate governance at senior management level, having formerly served as Country Director 
for TransGlobal Limited in Ghana, and has been significantly involved in several important discoveries including the greater 
than 6 million ounce Plutonic Deeps gold discovery (the hidden extensions of the Plutonic Gold Mine) and the 200,000 ounce 
Santrese gold discovery near Konogo, Ghana.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Mr O’Sullivan currently holds no other Directorships in listed companies.

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS 
None.

Mr Dean Felton BBus, MB 
Non-Executive Director

EXPERIENCE & EXPERTISE 
Dean holds a Bachelor of Business and a Master of Business Administration.

Dean is a co-founder and Director of Oyster Consulting, Mining Industry Consultants. Prior to this, Dean was managing 
the Business Analysis function, an in-house advisory team, for Rio Tinto. Recently Dean has worked with emerging mining 
companies to provide strategic management for the earliest stages of company development and has also managed the due 
diligence and financial analysis for a multi-national business exploring investment opportunities in Australian resources 
companies. Dean serves on the Company’s Audit and Risk Management Committee, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, and Corporate Governance Committee.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Mr Felton currently holds no other Directorships in listed companies.

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS 
Non-Executive Director, Excalibur Mining Corporation Limited (appointed 30 June 2008, resigned 30 November 2010). 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
Chair of Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
Chair of Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
Member of Corporate Governance Committee.

Mr Richard Monti BSc (Hons), Grad Dip Applied Finance and Investment, MAusIMM  
Executive Director

EXPERIENCE & EXPERTISE 
Richard has qualifications in Geology (Bachelor of Science with Honours from the University of Western Australia) and Finance 
(Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment from the Securities Institute of Australia).

He has gained broad experience over a twenty five year career working in the technical, marketing and financial fields of the 
international exploration and mining industry.

Richard has worked for a number of international and Australian companies including Anaconda Nickel, RTZ Exploration,  
the North Group and the Normandy Group. During a seven year term at Anaconda Nickel he held General Manager positions in 
technical, commercial and marketing fields. He has also held positions on the boards of a number of ASX listed and  
private mining companies. Mr Monti was a founding Director of corporate advisory firm Ventnor Capital Pty Ltd, resigning  
in June 2010. 

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Non Executive Director, Potash Minerals Limited (appointed 15 December 2006) 
Non-Executive Director, Poseidon Nickel Limited (appointed 4 April 2007) 
Non-Executive Director, Jaguar Minerals Limited (appointed 15 October 2009) 
Non-Executive Director, Triton Gold Limited (appointed 16 August 2011)

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS 
Executive Director, Bathurst Resources Limited (appointed 30 May 2007, resigned 4 September 2009) 
Non-Executive Director, White Star Resources Limited (appointed 18 January 2007, resigned 1 September 2011)

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
Member of Corporate Governance Committee.



AZIMUTH RESOURCES LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2012PAGE 6 

Terence Sean Harvey B.A (Hons), M.A, LLB, MBA  
Non-Executive Director (appointed 23 April 2012)
EXPERIENCE & EXPERTISE 
Sean has over 20 years mining industry experience. Sean worked for over 10 years in Investment Banking in North America for 
Nesbitt Burns (now BMO) and Deutsche Bank, primarily focused on the basic industry (mining) sector. For the last dozen years 
Sean has held senior executive and board positions with various mining companies, accumulating a wealth of South American 
experience.

From 2001 through 2006 Sean was President and CEO of TVX Gold (Chile/Brazil) at the time of its sale to Kinross Gold, Atlántico 
Gold (Brazil) that was sold to Goldcorp Inc. and Orvana Minerals Corp. which operated in Bolivia. 

Sean also currently sits on the board of directors of several other mining companies including Perseus Mining Limited, Allied 
Gold Mining Plc. and is a non-executive Chairman and co-founder of Andina Minerals Inc and Sarama Resources Ltd. 

Sean has an Honours B.A in economics and geography and an M.A in economics, both from Carleton University. He also has an 
LLB from the University of Western Ontario and an MBA from the University of Toronto. Sean is a member of the Law Society of 
Upper Canada.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Non Executive Director, Andina Minerals Inc (appointed 29 December 2004) 
Non-Executive Director, Victoria Gold Corporation (appointed 31 July 2007) 
Non-Executive Director, Serabi Mining plc (appointed 30 March 2011) 
Non Executive Director, Perseus Mining Limited (appointed 2 September 2009) 
Non Executive Director, Sarama Resources Ltd (appointed 8 April 2010)

OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS 
Non Executive Director, Moto Goldmines Limited (appointed 26 May 2005, resigned 15 October 2009) 
Non Executive Director, Allied Gold Mining Plc (appointed 11 March 2010, resigned 7 September 2012) 
Non Executive Director, Australian Solomons Gold Limited (appointed 6 October 2006, resigned 24 November 2009) 
Non Executive Director, Nord Resources Corp (appointed 21 December 2007, resigned 17 June 2010)

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
Member of Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
Member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial period to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Directors’ Report (continued)

Joshua Ward BCom, CA, Grad Dip Applied Finance and Investment  
Company Secretary - appointed 19 January 2010

Mr Ward is a qualified Chartered Accountant with ten years experience in various accounting and corporate advisory roles in 
Australia, the UK and USA. Mr Ward has experience with the Australian and international resources sectors, and has been 
involved in a number of ASX junior transactions, IPOs and corporate reconstructions. Mr Ward has a strong commercial and 
financial reporting background.

OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
Azimuth’s principal activities are the exploration of 
gold and uranium in Guyana.
FINANCIAL RESULTS 
The net loss of the Group for the year ended 30 June 
2012 amounted to $3,192,941 (2011: $3,388,858).

Summary of Financial 
Information

Financial Year Ended

30 June 2012
$

30 June 2011 
$

30 June 2010 
$

30 June 2009 
$

30 June 2008 
$

Net loss after tax (3,192,941) (3,388,858) (2,468,835) (3,651,256) (1,519,370)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in  
Cash held 129,143 4,164,814 3,349,932 (1,051,564) (1,545,687)

Total assets 57,979,363 36,187,330 27,207,683 1,607,942 4,948,892

Shareholders’ equity 50,490,914 29,751,287 21,122,008 1,550,383 4,740,864

DIVIDENDS 
There were no dividends paid or declared during  
the year.

Directors’ Report (continued)
OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW



AZIMUTH RESOURCES LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2012PAGE 8 

Amakura

Georgetown

Omai Mine

West Omai Gold

East Omai Gold

Guyana

The word ‘Guyana’ derives from an Amerindian 
word meaning ‘land of many waters’.  

At 215,000km2, Guyana is the third smallest 
independent state on the mainland of South 
America, and is known for being one of only two 
Caribbean countries that is not an island. English 
is the official spoken language. 

Guyana’s population is approximately 740,000.

About Guyana

Guyana
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Figure 1 Showing the Guiana Shield, and 
the location of Azimuth Projects.

GUYANA PROJECTS
The present known endowment of the Guiana Shield is 110Moz 
and the Shield hosts numerous ‘World Class’ ( 3 million ounce) gold 
deposits. Almost all of the known gold deposits lie within a portion 
of the Shield that lies within 200km of the coast in a belt  
of greenstones with a strike length of approximately 1,000km.  
The projects acquired by Azimuth give it control of approximately 
20% of this prime geological address. 

Azimuth has three projects in Guyana: the West Omai Gold Project, 
the East Omai Gold Project and the Amakura Uranium Project 
(Figure 1). 

During the 2012 financial year Azimuth continued to 
explore its package of highly prospective gold and uranium 
properties in Guyana, South America, and continued to 
improve its exploration footprint in one of the world’s least 
explored major gold belts. 

OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW
Directors’ Report (continued)
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The West Omai Gold Project
The West Omai Gold Project is an approximately 
1,100km2 advanced exploration project covering 
a 50km strike portion of the same structural 
stratigraphic corridor (the Omai- Hicks-Kaburi 
Corridor) which hosts the Omai gold mine (3.7Moz 
produced), located 15km to the SE of the project. 

The overall Inferred Mineral Resource estimate at 
West Omai, comprising both the Smarts and Hicks 
deposits is 12.4Mt @ 3.1g/t Au for total contained 
ounces of 1.22M ounces.

Table 1: Mineral Resources – West Omai Projects, Guyana – minimum 0.5g/t Au cut-off grade.

Directors’ Report (continued)
OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW

Deposit Category
Tonnes 

 (millions)
Grade 

(g/t Au)
Metal 

(million ozs Au)

Hicks Inferred 7.4 2.0 0.47

Smarts Inferred 5.0 4.6 0.75

Total Inferred 12.4 3.1 1.22

The present focus of exploration at West Omai 
is depth and strike extensions of the Hicks and 
Smarts resources, and systematic targeted regional 
exploration within the Omai-Hicks-Kaburi corridor, 
and Aurora-Gem Creek corridor. 
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The Hicks Deposit: A shallow JORC Code and NI  
43-101 compliant inferred resource of 7.4Mt at  
2.0g/t Au for 472,000 ounces gold.

In May 2012, Azimuth announced the maiden  
inferred gold resources for the Hicks Deposit.  
The resource took into account drilling completed to 
mid-April 2012, over approximately 2,200m of strike 
and to a maximum depth of approximately 200m 
below surface. The resource is comprised of 26 
wireframed mineralised bodies within the shear  
zone each representing a discrete lode  
(see Figure 2 below). Two thirds of the resource 
ounces are included in two of these lodes.

Figure 2: Long Section View of Hicks Resource Wireframes

Directors’ Report (continued)
OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Company is currently scout drilling along strike 
to the northwest and southeast of the Hicks deposit 
where, over the coming months, it intends to scout 
drill several kilometres of the strike of the structures 
which host the Hicks resource looking to extend the 
known deposit. In addition, there are plans to drill 
beneath the current wireframes in order to extend  
the orebodies deeper. 
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The Smarts Prospect: A shallow, high grade JORC 
Code and NI 43-101 compliant inferred resource of 
5.0Mt at 4.6g/t Au for 748,000 ounces gold.

A first pass 3,500 metre reverse circulation drill 
program designed to test the Smarts Pit and 
associated geochemical anomalies commenced on 
26 February 2011. Early in the drill program visible 
gold was observed in SRC009 which had drilled  
under the southern end of the Smarts pit.

In late March 2011, the first assays were received 
which revealed a robust intersection in SRC009 of  
29 metres @ 14.3 g/t Au from 26 metres down hole, 
with the hole ending in mineralisation. Follow up 
drilling in April 2011 continued to yield high grade 
shallow intercepts and the Group decided to expand 
the Smarts drilling program.

By the end of June 2011, scout drilling had  
delineated visual mineralisation over a strike length 
of 4 kilometres, which remains open at depth and at 
both ends. The visual mineralisation is recognised 
as quartz veins with either associated pyrite or the 
weathering products of pyrite hosted in strongly 
sheared chlorite + carbonate +/- sericite altered 
mafic volcanics.

Within 15 months from the initial drill program, in 
May 2012, Azimuth announced the maiden inferred 
gold resources for the Smarts Deposit. The resource 
took into account drilling completed to mid-April 
2012, over approximately 2,700m of strike and to 
a maximum depth of approximately 200m below 
surface. The resource is comprised of 22 wireframed 
mineralised bodies within the shear zone each 
representing a discrete lode (see Figure 3). The vast 
majority (83%) of the resource ounces are included 
in three of these lodes which encompass a near 
continuous strike of 1,700m.

The Smarts resource remains open at depth.  
A contoured long section (Figure 4) showing 
grade times thickness of drill hole intercepts from 
both within and outside the interpreted resource 
wireframes suggests that higher grade zones  
within the Smarts deposit have possibly a north 
westerly plunge and remain untested below the 
interpreted wireframes. The Company is presently 
drilling to test depth potential, much of which it 
believes to continue to be able to be developed in  
an open pit operation.

Figure 4 also illustrates that the higher grade  
zones and shoots within Smarts are imbedded  
within lower grade mineralisation (1-10 gram x 
metres) hosted by the structure which hosts the 
Smarts resource. This low grade mineralisation 
remains open along strike in both directions and 
remains to be drill tested. Potential therefore exists 
for the discovery of further higher grade zones and 
shoots along strike from the Smarts resource.  
The Company is currently scout drilling along strike 
to the northwest of the Smarts deposit where, over 
the coming months, it intends to scout drill at least  
5 kilometres of the strike of the structures which  
host the Smarts resource looking to either extend  
the known deposit or confirm a new one. 

The Group is extremely pleased with the Smarts 
maiden resource, which was only the second 
prospect that the Group drill tested within the  
8,786 km2 of gold tenements that it holds  
in Guyana.

Figure 3: Long Section View of Smarts Resource Wireframes.

Directors’ Report (continued)
OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Directors’ Report (continued)
OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Kaburi Prospect: A 400m diameter shallow 
open pit working which is the single largest 
artisanal bedrock working in Guyana, having been 
mined intermittently since 1912 and yet remains 
substantially untested by modern methods. Kaburi is 
the also the largest bedrock gold opening in Guyana 
after the Omai gold mine. 

In March 2012, the Group announced results from 
its first pass, 12 hole drilling program at Kaburi. 
Drilling intersected a small granitoid intrusive 
which contained significant mineralisation along 
its margins. The granitoid intrusive also exhibited 
pervasive low grade mineralisation throughout 
(KRC011- 135m @ 0.35g/t Au and KDD001 - 111m  
@ 0.32g/t Au). The best result from the first pass  
12 hole program was from KRC009, being 9m  
@ 9.2g/t Au. The zone intersected in KRC009 remains 
open to the southeast and can be inferred to strike 
through an area of extensive past artisanal mining 
and will be the target of follow up drilling in the 
coming quarters. 

Figure 4: Azimuth interpreted long section of the Smarts deposit, with mineralised intercepts (dots) categorised and contoured  
by grade x thickness (gram/tonne x metres) and also showing outlines of Runge’s wireframes. Note open down plunge potential  
of higher grade shoots within an envelope of low grade mineralisation (1-10 gram/tonne x metres) which remains open along 
strike in both directions.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW

Figure 5: Plan of showing the results of first pass drilling at the Kaburi Propsect. Background is a 1m resolution DTM created  
from the Company’s Lidar survey showing the 200m diameter water filled pit which was the target of recent drilling in blue.  
The granitoid intrusive is shown as orange. The inferred strike of the southern contact of the granitoid intrusive where the best 
mineralisation was intersected in SRC009 is show as the red arrow. Note this is inferred to extend for several hundred meters  
to the southeast through an area of backfilled artisanal workings. 

Regional Exploration and Acquisition of further 
properties – West Omai Project
During the year, the Group acquired additional 
tenements within the West Omai Project area.  
These tenements fill in gaps in the Group’s coverage 
of the Omai-Hicks-Kaburi Corridor and extend the 
West Omai project to the northwest along the  
Aurora Gem Creek Corridor and the Omai-Hicks-
Kaburi Corridor. 

The Group now controls all of the strike extent of 
prospective structures between the Hicks and Kaburi 
prospect, and additional tenements to the north west 
which are prospective for gold mineralisation and will 
form drill targets in the near future. 

As announced in May 2011, the Group contracted 
Firefly Aviation Limited to fly a high resolution 

magnetic and radiometric survey covering all of 
the Group’s West and East Omai gold projects. 
GeoSistemas AeroCartograficas S.A. C.V. (‘Geosisa’) 
was commissioned to fly a Light Detection and 
Ranging (‘LiDAR’) survey over the central 500km2 
of the West Omai project. This survey is used to 
accurately locate outcrops and historic workings,  
and will be used as an aid to future mine planning 
and design.

These campaigns have been completed in this 
reporting period after some initial delays with 
the contractors, and the data is currently being 
processed to best utilise as an interpretive and 
targeting tool. Preliminary images are encouraging  
in both our understanding of known structures  
and identification of new ones. 
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East Omai Gold Project
The East Omai Gold Project is a 7,636km2 green 
fields exploration project, comprising a largely 
covered 110km strike of the main Guiana Shield gold 
belt, with potential to host not only several major 
gold deposits but entire mining camps (Figure 6). 

Azimuth has flown an airborne magnetic and 
radiometric survey over the entirety of the East Omai 
Project in Q4 2011. The results of the magnetic and 
radiometric survey will be used to focus scout drilling 
on potentially gold bearing structures.

Plans are in place for an initial ground expedition in 
Q3 2012, to refine access and logistical knowledge, 
as well as refine and confirm targets defined by the 
geophysics. Targets will be followed up by a drilling 
program in Q4 2012. 

Figure 6: Showing the East Omai project in relation to the West Omai Gold project. Sand cover is shown in tan. 
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Amakura Uranium Project
The Amakura Uranium project is a 4,000km2 permit 
located in the northwest of Guyana, which exhibits 
several large high intensity airborne radiometric 
anomalies associated with broad regions of surface 
uranium anomalism. It is prospective for granite 
hosted and sodic metasomatic uranium deposits.

Field reconnaissance and logistics work were 
conducted earlier in the year and field programs 
including ground radiometric surveys, augering and 
trenching were completed in the latter stages of the 
reporting period. 

Given the current financial situation, the Group has 
taken the decision to wind back activities at the 
project for the time being, preserving cash for its 
West and East Omai projects.

AUSTRALIAN PROJECTS
Mardie Iron Ore Project
The Mardie Iron Ore project was sold to Iron Ore 
Holdings Limited during the period for $225,000. 

Pandanus West Joint Venture
Southern Uranium Ltd (ASX: SNU) further increased 
its interest in the Pandanus West project during the 
period, with Azimuth diluting its equity in the Project 
to 14.0%. Subsequent to balance date, the Company 
divested its interest in the Pandanus JV for $20,000 
and a 1% net smelter return royalty.

Competent Person’s Statement
The information in this report that relates to 
exploration results is based on information 
compiled by Mr. Richard Monti who is a 
member of the Australasian Institute of Mining 
and Metallurgy. Mr. Monti is a Director of 
Azimuth Resources Limited. Mr. Monti has 
sufficient experience which is relevant to the 
style of mineralisation and type of deposit 
under consideration and to the activity which 
he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the 
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’ 
and a qualified person as defined in National 
Instrument 43-101. Mr. Monti consents to the 
inclusion in this report of the matters based on 
his information in the form and context in  
which it appears.

The information in this report that relates to 
mineral resources or ore reserves is based 
on information compiled by Mr. Aaron Green 
who is a member of the Australian Institute 
of Geoscientists (MAIG). Mr. Green is a full 
time employee of Runge (Australia) Limited. 
Mr. Green has sufficient experience which 
is relevant to the style of mineralisation and 
type of deposit under consideration and to the 
activity which he is undertaking to qualify as 
a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 
Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting 
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves’ and a qualified person as  
defined in National Instrument 43-101.  
Mr. Green consents to the inclusion in this 
report of the matters based on his information 
in the form and context in which it appears.  
For a description of the data verification 
process, quality assurance and quality control 
measures, the effective date of the mineral 
resource estimates contained herein, details of 
the key assumptions, parameters and methods 
used to estimate the mineral resources set 
out in this report and the extent to which the 
estimate of mineral resources set out herein 
may be materially affected by any known 
environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, 
socio-political, marketing or other relevant 
issues, readers are directed to the technical 
report entitled “Technical Report, West Omai 
Gold Project, Guyana” dated May 30, 2012.
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CORPORATE
Placement, November 2011
In October 2011, the Group announced plans for 
a $19.4m capital raising to institutional clients of 
Blackswan Equities. The placement closed on  
10 November 2011. 

TSX Dual Listing
In May 2012, the Group listed on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange. This compliance listing will allow the 
Company to access the North American capital 
markets, where the directors anticipate establishing 
a corporate headquarters and marketing the Group 
to create some liquidity.

Appointment of additional key Directors 
and Officers
On 24 October 2011, the Company appointed Paul 
Criddle as Chief Operating Officer. Paul is an 
experienced metallurgist and development manager 
with 13 years of operational, development and 
corporate experience in Australia and Africa. 

Most recently, Paul was Technical Services Group 
Manager and Acting COO for Perseus Mining Limited 
and played an integral role in the development of 
the Edikan Gold Mine in Ghana and the Tengrela 
Gold Project in Cote d’Ivoire. At these projects, Paul 
managed preliminary studies, plant design, project 
implementation and operational ramp-up. 

Prior to his position with Perseus Limited, Paul was 
jointly responsible for the design, development and 
operational implementation and ramp up stages of 
the Sabodala Gold Project in Senegal for Australian 
based and TSX listed Company, Mineral Deposits. 

In the earlier stages of his career, Paul has 
occupied key operational roles in gold operations in 
Western Australia, Papua New Guinea and Tanzania 
performing metallurgical, process management and 
project development functions for both Placer Dome 
and Barrick Gold Corporations. 

On 23 April 2012 the Company appointed Sean 
Harvey as non-executive Director. Sean has over 
20 years mining industry experience. Sean worked 
for over 10 years in Investment Banking in North 
America for Nesbitt Burns (now BMO) and Deutsche 
Bank, primarily focused on the basic industry 
(mining) sector. For the last dozen years Sean has 
held senior executive and board positions with 
various mining companies, accumulating a wealth of 
South American experience.

From 2001 through 2006 Sean was President and 
CEO of TVX Gold (Chile/Brazil) at the time of its sale 
to Kinross Gold, Atlántico Gold (Brazil) that was sold 

to Goldcorp Inc. and Orvana Minerals Corp. which 
operated in Bolivia. 

Sean also currently sits on the board of directors of 
several other mining companies including Perseus 
Mining Limited and is a non-executive Chairman 
and co-founder of Andina Minerals Inc and Sarama 
Resources Ltd. 

Sean has an Honours B.A in economics and 
geography and an M.A in economics, both from 
Carleton University. He also has an LLB from the 
University of Western Ontario and an MBA from the 
University of Toronto. Sean is a member of the Law 
Society of Upper Canada.

Sean also joined Azimuth’s Audit and Risk 
Management, and Nomination and Remuneration 
sub-committees.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE  
STATE OF AFFAIRS
There have been no significant changes in the state 
of affairs of the Group that occurred during the 
financial period not otherwise disclosed in this report 
or the financial statements.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR
On 1 July 2012 Mr Dominic O’Sullivan resigned as 
an executive director, however he will continue in a 
non-executive capacity, and provide services on a 
consultancy basis. 

On 10 August 2012, 17,142,857 shares at $0.35 per 
share were issued to sophisticated and institutional 
investors, raising $6,000,000 before costs. 

On 21 August 2012, a total of 250,000 unlisted options 
were exercised at 10 cents each, providing funding of 
$25,000 to the Group.

On 18 September 2012, the Company announced the 
acquisition of 576km2 at the Company’ East and West 
Omai projects, for staged cash and share payments 
to various vendors. 

Other than the above, no matters or circumstances 
have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect 
the operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations or the state of affairs of the Group in 
subsequent financial years.
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Directors believe that the Group has, in all 
material respects, complied with all particular and 
significant environmental regulations relevant to  
its operations.

Azimuth’s operations are subject to various 
environmental regulations under the Federal and 
State Laws of Australia and Guyana. The majority of 
the Group’s activities involve low level disturbance 
associated with exploration drilling programs. 
Approvals, licences and hearings and other 
regulatory requirements are performed as required 
by the management of Azimuth for each permit or 
lease in which the Group has an interest. There have 
been no known material breaches of environmental 
laws or permit conditions by the Group while 
conducting operations in either Australia or  
Guyana during the period.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
During the financial year, the Company has paid 
a premium of $24,052 (2011: $7,937) to insure the 
Directors and Secretary of the Company.

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be 
incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings 
that may be brought against the officers in their 
capacity as officers of the Company, and any other 
payments arising from liabilities incurred by the 
officers in connection with such proceedings.  
This does not include such liabilities that arise 
from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by 
the officers or the improper use by the officers of 
their position or of information to gain advantage for 
themselves or someone else or to cause detriment  
to the Group.

Shares Unlisted Options

2012 2011 2012 2011

Michael Hunt 732,631 677,631 3,000,000 3,000,000

Dominic O’Sullivan 28,286,008 23,468,428 - 7,817,580

Dean Felton 167,262 167,262 333,334 333,334

Richard Monti 9,043,651 6,543,651 - 2,500,000

T. Sean Harvey - - - -

38,229,552 30,856,972 3,333,334 13,650,914

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
During the financial year, 10 meetings of Directors 
were held with the following attendances:

Directors Meetings Held
Meetings
Attended

Michael Hunt 10 10

Dominic O’Sullivan 10 10

Dean Felton 10 10

Richard Monti 10 10

T. Sean Harvey (appointed 23/4/12) 2 2

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in ordinary shares and unlisted options  
of the Company were:
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REMUNERATION REPORT
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements 
in place for Directors and key management 
personnel of the Group. 

The Remuneration Report is set out under the 
following main headings:

A.	 Remuneration Policy 
B.	 Details of Remuneration (audited) 
C.	 Service Agreements (audited) 
D.	 Share-based Compensation (audited) 
E.	 Additional Information

The information provided under headings A-D 
includes remuneration disclosures that are required 
under Accounting Standard AASB 124 “Related Party 
Disclosures”. These disclosures have been audited.

Directors and other key management personnel 
disclosed in this report:

Name Position

Executive & Non Executive Directors – see pages 4-6

Other key management personnel:

P Criddle Chief Operating Officer

J Ward Financial Controller/Company Secretary

A. Remuneration Policy
Role of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is a 
committee of the Board. It is primarily responsible 
for making recommendations to the Board on:

• �remuneration packages and policies applicable  
to directors, senior executives and employees;

• �the appointment and evaluation of Board 
candidates; and

• �policies in relation to performance evaluation of  
the Board.

Its objective is to ensure that remuneration policies 
are fair and competitive, are aligned with the long 
term interests of the Company, and to establish and 
monitor measurable objectives for diversity. In doing 
this, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
seeks advice from independent remuneration 
consultants.

The Board’s policy for determining the nature and 
amount of remuneration of Directors is as follows:

Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy
The Group’s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive 
Directors at market rates for comparable companies 
for time, commitment and responsibilities.  
The Board, in consultation with the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and independent 
advisors, determines payments to the Non-Executive 
Directors and reviews their remuneration annually 
based on market practice, duties and accountability. 
Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to 
the performance of the Group. However, to align 
Directors’ interests with shareholder interests,  
the Directors are encouraged to hold shares in  
the Company.

Directors’ fees
The current base fees were last reviewed with 
effect from 1 April 2011. The Chair’s remuneration 
is inclusive of committee fees while other non-
executive directors who chair, or are a member of  
a committee receive additional yearly fees.

Non-executive directors’ fees are determined 
within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, 
which is periodically recommended for approval 
by shareholders. The maximum currently stands 
at $300,000 per annum and was approved by 
shareholders at the annual general meeting  
on 22 November 2011.
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REMUNERATION REPORT
A. Remuneration PolicY (continued)
The following per annum fees are in effect from  
1 April 2011:

Base fees
Chair 	 $70,000 
Non-Executive Directors 	 $35,000

Additional fees
Committee Chair 	 $12,000 
Committee Member 	 $10,000

Directors’ Retirement Benefits
No retirement benefits are paid to non-executive 
directors other than the statutory superannuation 
contributions required under the Australian 
superannuation guarantee legislation, which are  
paid in addition to the above fees.

Executive Remuneration Policy
The remuneration policy has been designed to align 
director objectives with shareholder and business 
objectives by providing a fixed remuneration 
component which is assessed on an annual basis 
in line with market rates. The Board of Azimuth 
Resources Limited believes the remuneration policy 
to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract 
and retain the best Directors to run and manage the 
Group, as well as create goal congruence between 
Directors and shareholders.

The remuneration policy, setting the terms and 
conditions for the Executive Directors and other 
senior staff members was approved by the board 
after seeking professional advice from independent 
external consultants.

Fixed salary package
In determining competitive remuneration rates, 
the Board seeks independent advice on local and 
international trends among comparative companies 
and industry generally. It examines terms and 
conditions for employee incentive schemes, benefit 
plans and share plans. Independent advice is 
obtained to confirm that executive remuneration 
is in line with market practice and is reasonable in 
the context of Australian and international executive 
reward practices.

All Executives receive a base salary (which is 
based on factors such as length of service and 
experience), and superannuation. The proportion of 
an executive’s total foxed salary package that is paid 
as superannuation is at the executive’s discretion, 
subject to compliance with relevant superannuation 

guarantee legislation.

Variable remuneration
The Group is an exploration entity, and is therefore 
speculative in terms of performance. In order to 
attract and retain talented Executives and Directors 
are paid market rates associated with individuals in 
similar positions, within the same industry. Board 
members and Executives have interests in the 
securities of the Company which assist in aligning 
their objectives with overall shareholder value.

Options have been issued to Board members and key 
employees and consultants to provide a mechanism 
to participate in the future development of the Group 
and an incentive for their future involvement with  
and commitment to the Group.

Options and performance incentives may be issued 
in the event that the entity moves from an exploration 
entity to a producing entity, and key performance 
indicators such as profits and growth can be used as 
measurements for assessing Board performance.

The Executive Directors and Executives receive 
a superannuation guarantee contribution where 
required by the government, which is currently 9% 
and do not receive any other retirement benefits.

All remuneration paid to Directors is valued at the 
cost to the Group and expensed. Shares given to 
Directors and Executives are valued as the difference 
between the market price of those shares and the 
amount paid by the Director or Executive. Options are 
valued using the Black Scholes methodology, where 
required by accounting standards.

A performance evaluation for all directors is 
undertaken annually. The results of this review are 
taken into account when considering remuneration 
decisions.

Performance based remuneration
The remuneration policy has been tailored to 
increase goal congruence between shareholders and 
Directors and key management personnel. Currently, 
this is facilitated through the issue of shares and 
options to key management personnel to encourage 
the alignment of personal and shareholder interests. 
The Group believes this policy will be effective in 
increasing shareholder wealth.

B. Details of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 
key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures) of Azimuth Resources 
Limited are set out in the following table.
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B. Details of remuneration (continued)

2012 Short-Term Benefits
Post Employment 

Benefits

Share 
Based 
Payments

Total 
$

Performance 
based

remuner-
ation 

%

Director/Key 
Management 
Personnel

Salary and 
Fees

$
Other*

$

Super-
annuation 

$
Other 

$
Options 

$

Non-Executive Directors

M. Hunt 88,833 - 7,995 - - 96,828 -

D. Felton 54,500 - - - - 54,500 -

T.S. Harvey1 10,222 - - - - 10,222 -

Executive Directors

D. O’Sullivan 260,000 11,852 - - - 271,852 -

R. Monti 253,499 - 3,375 - - 256,874 -

Senior Executives

P. Criddle2 206,807 8,479 13,708 - 721,050 950,044 75.9%

J. Ward3 72,692 - 6,542 - 85,005 164,239 51.8%

Directors/KMP Total 946,553 20,331 31,620 - 806,055 1,804,559

* Other short term benefits consist of payments and allowances for housing, accommodation, utilities, and travel.

2011 Short-Term Benefits
Post Employment 

Benefits

Share 
Based 
Payments

Total 
$

Performance 
based

remuner-
ation 

%

Director/Key 
Management 
Personnel

Salary and 
Fees

$
Other*

$

Super-
annuation 

$
Other 

$
Options 

$

Non-Executive Directors

B. Larson4 44,602 - 4,014 - - 48,616 -

M. Hunt5 25,218 - 2,270 - 430,200 457,688 94.0%

D. Felton 35,000 - - - - 35,000 -

Executive Directors

D. O’Sullivan 239,967 - - - - 239,967 -

R. Monti 173,548 - 3,150 - - 176,698 -

Directors/KMP Total 518,335 - 9,434 430,200 957,969

(1)	 Appointed on 23 April 2012 
(2)	 Appointed on 24 October 2011 
(3)	 Appointed on 9 January 2012

(4)	 Resigned on 18 February 2011 
(5)	 Appointed on 18 February 2011

C. service agreements
Upon appointment to the Board, all Non-Executive 
Directors enter into a service agreement with the 
Company in the form of a letter of appointment.  
The letter summarises the policies and terms, 
including compensation, relevant to the office  
of Director.

Remuneration and other terms of employment for 
the Executive Directors and other Key Management 
Personnel are formalised in executive service 
agreements. Major provisions of the agreements 
existing at balance date relating to remuneration  
are set out on the following page:
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C. service agreements (continued)

Name and 
job title

Employing 
Company

Contracting 
Company 
(where 
applicable)

Contract 
Duration

Notice 
Period

Fixed 
Remuneration 
(including base 
Salary and 
Superannuation 
as applicable)

Variable 
Remuner-
ation

Termination 
Provision

Richard Monti 
Executive 
Director

Azimuth 
Resources 
Limited

Greatcity 
Corporation Pty 
Ltd

No fixed 
term, 
reviewed 
annually

1 month $288,000 Not 
applicable

None

Dominic 
O’Sullivan 
Executive 
Director(i)

Azimuth 
Resources 
Limited

Javelin 
Minerals Inc

No fixed 
term, 
reviewed 
annually

3 months $225,000 At board 
discretion

None

Paul Criddle 
Chief 
Operating 
Officer

Azimuth 
Resources 
Limited

N/A 2 years, 
reviewed 
annually

3 months $327,000 At board 
discretion

None

Joshua Ward 
Financial 
Controller/
Company 
Secretary

Azimuth 
Resources 
Limited

N/A No fixed 
term, 
reviewed 
annually

3 months $163,500 At board 
discretion

None

(i) Mr O’Sullivan was employed as Managing Director until March 2012, following which he became President and Executive 
Director. On 1 July 2012, Mr O’Sullivan resigned as Executive Director, and remains as a Non-Executive Director. 

D. Share-based compensation
Employee and Consultant’s Option Plan (ECOP)
The Company operates an ownership-based scheme 
for employees and consultants of the Group.  
In accordance with the provisions of the plan, 
approved by shareholders at a general meeting held 
in July 2010, employees and consultants who are 
considered critical to the Company’s operations and 
management may be granted unlisted options to 
purchase shares in the Company, on terms set at 
the discretion of the Board, in consultation with the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Each option converts into one ordinary share  
of Azimuth Resources Limited on exercise. 
No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient  
on receipt of the option. The options carry neither 
rights to dividends nor voting rights. Options may  
be exercised at any time from the date of vesting  
to the date of expiry.

The number of options granted is determined by 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
and subsequently approved by the Board. The 
assessment of the employees and consultants takes 
into account the key milestones achieved by the 
Company during the period and each employee or 
consultant’s contribution towards those milestones.

The options expire approximately three years 
from the date of issue, or three months from the 
resignation of the employee or consultant, whichever 
is the earlier. The Board may utilise its discretion to 
allow resigning employees or consultants additional 
time in which the option may be exercised, within the 
original term of the option.

Directors are not included in the ECOP, as the 
Company obtains shareholder approval for all 
director share based payments at general  
meetings.
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D. Share-based compensatioN (continued)
The following share based remuneration payments to Directors and other key management personnel (as 
defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) of the Company were made in the current period:

2012 Grant of Options under ECOP

VestedGranted Terms & Conditions for each Grant

Key  
Management 
Personnel

No
Granted

Grant
Date

Fair 
Value at 
Grant 
Date

Exercise 
Price per 
Option

Expiry 
Date

First 
Exercise 
Date

Last 
Exercise 
Date No %

P. Criddle 1,500,000 24/10/11 $0.254 $0.70 30/09/14 24/10/11 30/09/14 1,500,000 100%

1,500,000 24/10/11 $0.226 $0.90 30/09/14 24/10/11 30/09/14 1,500,000 100%

J. Ward 150,000 17/01/12 $0.307 $0.70 17/01/15 17/01/12 17/01/05 150,000 100%

150,000 17/01/12 $0.266 $0.90 17/01/15 17/01/12 17/01/05 150,000 100%

There were no grants of options to Key Management Personnel under the ECOP in 2011.

There were no grants of options to Directors in 2012.

2011 Grant of Options under ECOP

VestedGranted Terms & Conditions for each Grant

Director
No
Granted

Grant
Date

Fair 
Value at 
Grant 
Date

Exercise 
Price per 
Option

Expiry 
Date

First 
Exercise 
Date

Last 
Exercise 
Date No %

M. Hunt 3,000,000 18/05/11 $0.1434 $0.371 30/04/14 18/05/11 30/04/14 3,000,000 100%

As the above options were the only form of performance based remuneration paid during the year, the 
percentage of compensation for the year consisting of options is the same as the percentage of performance 
based remuneration disclosed in section B of the remuneration report. 

The value of options issued to Key Management Personnel during the year is disclosed in section B of the 
remuneration report.

No options issued as part of Directors’ remuneration have expired without being exercised or lapsed since  
the start of the reporting period and as at the date of this report.
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E. Additional information
Principles used to determine the nature and amount 
of remuneration: relationship between remuneration 
and Company performance.
The overall level of executive reward takes into 
account the performance of the Group over a number 
of years, with greater emphasis given to the current 
and prior year. 

The Company issues options to Directors and 
Executives in order to provide incentives to deliver 
shareholder returns, being the primary performance 
indicator for the Company.

In addition to share price performance, Group performance is also reflected in the movement of the  
Group’s earnings or loss per share over time. The following graph shows the loss per share for the past  
5 financial years.

AZH Loss per Share (CPS)

AZH Share Price

The following graph shows the share price of the Company since January 2009:
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End of Remuneration Report
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LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
There are no likely developments in the operations 
of the Group that were not finalised at the date 
of this report. Further information as to likely 
developments in the operations of the Group and 
likely results of those operations would in the opinion 
of the Directors, be likely to result in unreasonable 
prejudice to the Group.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied to the Court to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in 
any proceedings to which the Company is a party for 
the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Company for all or any part of those proceedings.

The Company was not a party to any such 
proceedings during the year.

SHARES UNDER OPTION OR ISSUED ON  
EXERCISE OF OPTIONS
Shares under Option
As at the date of this report there were 22,582,954 
options outstanding.

Expiry Date Exercise Price Number of options

31 December 2012 $0.04 3,784,620

31 December 2012 $0.18 6,840,000

31 December 2012 $0.10 1,833,334

13 August 2013 $0.10 175,000

13 August 2014 $0.10 425,000

30 April 2014 $0.371 3,000,000

30 May 2014 $0.42 1,275,000

30 September 2014 $0.70 1,500,000

30 September 2014 $0.90 1,500,000

17 January 2015 $0.70 1,125,000

17 January 2015 $0.90 1,125,000

22,582,954

These options do not entitle the holders to participate 
in any share issue of the Company or any other body 
corporate. 

During the period, a total of 19,969,246 shares were 
issued as a result of the exercise of options. Refer to 
Note 16 for details.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The auditor’s independence declaration as required 
under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for 
the year ended 30 June 2012 has been received and 
can be found on page 37.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
There were no non-audit services provided by the 
Group’s auditors during the period.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors.

R. Monti 
Executive Director 
Azimuth Resources Limited

Cautionary Note Regarding  
Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking information, 
including statements regarding mineral resource 
estimates, the potential mineralisation and geological 
merits of the Hicks and Smarts Deposits and the plans, 
objectives or expectations of the Company with respect 
to the advancement of these projects and completion 
of programs and studies. Any statements that express 
or involve predictions, expectations, beliefs, plans, 
projections, objectives, assumptions or future events 
or performance (often, but not always, using words or 
phrases such as “expects”, “is expected”, “anticipates”, 
“plans”, “projects”, “estimates”, “assumes”, “intends”, 
“strategy”, “goals”, “objectives”, “potential” or variations 
thereof or stating that certain actions, events or results 
“may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur 
or be achieved, or the negative of any of these terms and 
similar expressions) are forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are subject to a variety 
of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors that could cause actual events or results to 
materially differ from those reflected in the forward-
looking statements, including, without limitation: 
inherent uncertainties and risks associated with mineral 
exploration; uncertainties related to the availability of 
future financing; uncertainties related to the outcome 
of studies; uncertainties relating to fluctuations in gold 
or uranium prices; the risk that Azimuth’s title to its 
properties could be challenged; uncertainties related 
to general economic and financial conditions; and 
uncertainties related to fluctuations in Azimuth’s share 
price. This list is not exhaustive of the factors that may 
affect any of Azimuth’s forward-looking statements. 
Forward-looking statements are statements about 
the future and are inherently uncertain, and actual 
achievements of Azimuth or other future events or 
conditions may differ materially from those reflected 
in the forward-looking statements due to a variety of 
risks, uncertainties and other factors, including, without 
limitation, those referred to in the Company’s Annual 
Information Form under the heading “Description of the 
Business - Risk Factors” and elsewhere. 

Azimuth’s forward-looking statements are based on 
the assumptions, beliefs, expectations and opinions of 
management as of the date hereof and which Azimuth 
believes are reasonable in the circumstances, but no 
assurance can be given that these expectations will 
prove to be correct. These assumptions include, but are 
not limited to public statements and stated goals, that 
there will be no material adverse change affecting the 
Company or its properties and such other assumptions 
as set out herein. Azimuth disclaims any intention or 
obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements 
if circumstances or management’s beliefs, expectations 
or opinions should change, except as required by law. For 
the reasons set forth above, undue reliance should not be 
placed on forward-looking statements.
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Mineral Resources & Reserves
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Deposit Category
Tonnes 

 (millions)
Grade  

(g/t Au)
Metal  

(million ozs Au)

Hicks Inferred 7.4 2.0 0.47

Smarts Inferred 5.0 4.6 0.75

Total Inferred 12.4 3.1 1.22

Notes applicable to the Mineral Resources
•	� Mineral resources have been estimated at a 

0.5g/t cut off grade.

•	� Mineral resources do not have demonstrated 
economic viability.

•	� Mineral resources have been estimated and 
reported in accordance with the standards  
of Canadian National Instrument 43-101  
(“NI 43-101”) and the JORC Code.

Qualified Persons
The preparation of Azimuth’s mineral resources 
has been done under the supervision of Qualified 
Persons as defined under NI 43-101 and the JORC 
Code. These qualified persons are detailed in the 
Company’s Annual Information Form (“AIF”) filed  
with Canadian securities regulatory authorities  
on 10 May, 2012.
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The Board of Directors

Name Position Independent

Michael Hunt Non-Executive Chairman Yes

Dominic O’Sullivan Non-Executive Director No

Dean Felton Non-Executive Director Yes

Richard Monti Executive Director No

T. Sean Harvey Non-Executive Director Yes

Azimuth Resources Ltd and the Board are  
committed to achieving and demonstrating the 
highest standards of corporate governance.  
The Board continues to review the framework 
and practices to ensure they meet the interests 
of shareholders. The Group has adopted systems 
of control and accountability as the basis for the 
administration of corporate governance.

The Board is committed to administering the 
policies and procedures with openness and 
integrity, pursuing the true spirit of corporate 

governance commensurate with the Group’s 
needs. The Corporate Governance Statement has 
been structured with reference to the Australian 
Securities Exchange Corporate Governance 
Council’s “Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations with 2010 Amendments 2nd 
Edition” to the extent that they are applicable to  
the Group.

Information about the Group’s corporate governance 
practices are set out below.

Corporate Governance Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
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The Company’s Constitution provides that the 
number of Directors shall not be less than three. 
There is no requirement for any shareholding 
qualification.

If the Group’s activities increase in size, nature 
and scope, the size of the Board will be reviewed 
periodically and the optimum number of Directors 
required to adequately supervise the Group’s 
activities will be determined within the limitations 
imposed by the Constitution and as circumstances 
demand.

The membership of the Board, its activities and 
composition is subject to periodic review. The criteria 
for determining the identification and application 
of a suitable candidate for the Board shall include 
quality of the individual, background of experience 
and achievement, compatibility with other Board 
members, credibility within the Group’s scope of 
activities, intellectual ability to contribute to Board 
duties and physical ability to undertake Board duties 
and responsibilities.

Directors are initially appointed by the full Board, 
subject to election by shareholders at the next Annual 
General Meeting. Under the Company’s Constitution 
the tenure of a Director (other than Managing 
Director, and only one Managing Director where the 
position is jointly held) is subject to reappointment 

by shareholders not later than the third anniversary 
following his or her last appointment. Subject to the 
requirements of the Corporations Act, the Board does 
not subscribe to the principle of retirement age and 
there is no maximum period of service as a Director. 
A Managing Director may be appointed for the period 
and on any terms the Directors think fit and, subject 
to the terms of any agreement entered into, the 
appointment may be revoked on notice.

BOARD COMMITTEES
During the current year, the Board has established 
committees to assist in the execution of its duties 
and to ensure that certain issues are given due 
consideration. Current committees of the Board 
are the Corporate Governance Committee, the 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee and the 
Audit & Risk Management Committee.

Each of these committees has its own Charter 
approved by the Board, and under which authority is 
delegated by the Board. Each Committee is required 
to report the outcomes of its deliberations to the 
Board so that the Board is fully informed on all 
important matters before matters are resolved.

The Company Secretary provides support services 
to each committee. Committee meeting agendas, 
papers and minutes are made available to all  
Board members.

Corporate Governance Committee Meetings

Members Status Terms
Meetings 
Held

Meetings 
Attended

Michael Hunt Independent Non Executive Director From formation - -

Dean Felton Independent Non Executive Director From formation - -

Richard Monti Executive Director From formation - -

The Corporate Governance Committee was formed on 13 March 2012. The first meeting of the Corporate 
Governance Committee was held on 26 July 2012.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee Meetings

Members Status Terms
Meetings 
Held

Meetings 
Attended

Michael Hunt Independent Non Executive Director From formation - -

Dean Felton Independent Non Executive Director From formation - -

T. Sean Harvey Independent Non Executive Director From 26 Apr 12 - -

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was formed on 13 March 2012. The first meeting of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee was held on 26 July 2012.

Corporate Governance Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
(continued)
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Audit and Risk Management Committee Meetings

Members Status Terms
Meetings 
Held

Meetings 
Attended

Michael Hunt Independent Non Executive Director From formation 2 2

Dean Felton Independent Non Executive Director From formation 2 2

T. Sean Harvey Independent Non Executive Director From 26 Apr 12 - -

The Audit and Risk Management Committee was formed on 13 February 2012.

Corporate Governance Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
(continued)

APPOINTMENTS TO OTHER BOARDS
Directors are required to take into consideration 
any potential conflicts of interest when accepting 
appointments to other boards.

INDEPENDENCE
During the financial year, three of the Company’s five 
Directors were independent. The Board considers the 
number of independent directors is appropriate.

An independent Director is a Non-Executive  
Director who:

•	� is not a substantial shareholder of the Company 
or an officer of, or directly or indirectly 
associated with, a substantial shareholder of  
the Company;

•	� within the last three years has not been 
employed in an executive capacity by the 
Company, or been a Director after ceasing to 
hold any such employment;

•	� within the last three years has not been a 
principal of a material professional adviser or 
a material consultant to the Company, or an 
employee material associated with the service 
provided; and

•	� does not have a material contractual 
relationship with the Company, other than as  
a Director of the Company.

For compliance with TSX National Instrument  
52-110, and for the purposes of the Audit and  
Risk Management Committee, an independent 
director is a director who does not have a material 
business relationship with the Company. A material 
business relationship is defined under 52-110 as a 
director who:

•	� accepts any consulting, advisory or other 
compensatory fee other than as remuneration 
for acting in his or her capacity as a member  
of the board of directors or any board 
committee; or

•	� is an affiliated entity.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES
As the Board acts on behalf of and is accountable 
to the shareholders, the Board seeks to identify the 
expectations of the shareholders, as well as other 
regulatory and ethical expectations and obligations. 
In addition, the Board is responsible for identifying 
areas of significant business risk and ensuring 
arrangements are in place to adequately manage 
those risks. The Board seeks to discharge these 
responsibilities in a number of ways.

The responsibility for the operation and 
administration of the Group is delegated by the  
Board to Executive Directors, and the key 
management personnel. The Board ensures that 
this team is appropriately qualified and experienced 
to discharge their responsibilities and has in place 
procedures to assess the performance of Executive 
Directors and the key management team.

The Board has adopted a formal charter that sets  
out the responsibilities reserved by the Board and 
those delegated to the Executive Officers. The charter 
is reviewed annually to ensure it remains consistent 
with accepted practice in the context of the Board’s 
objective and responsibilities.

The Board is responsible for ensuring management’s 
objectives and activities are aligned with the 
expectations and risks identified. The Board has a 
number of mechanisms in place to ensure this is 
achieved. These mechanisms include the following:

•	� Board approval of a strategic plan, which 
encompasses the Group’s vision, mission and 
strategy statements and is designed to meet 
stakeholders’ needs and manage business risk; 

•	� Implementation of operating plans and budgets 
by management and Board monitoring of 
progress against budget; 

•	� Management of environmental issues and 
concerns, and occupational health and  
safety; and

•	� The review and approval of acquisitions 
and disposals of businesses and assets, 
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Corporate Governance Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
(continued)

and the approval of contracts and financial 
arrangements within defined limits.

Due to the size and nature of the Group, the 
performance of all Directors is reviewed periodically 
by the board independently of each particular 
Director. Directors whose performance is 
unsatisfactory are asked to retire. Directors are also 
subject to shareholder re-election at every third 
anniversary of their directorship.

DIVERSITY
The Group has established a Diversity Policy  
that will allow it to grow and develop in a way that 
reflects, as far as possible, the talent available in 
the communities in which it works. Diversity is 
considered in all its forms including gender, age, 
geographical location, race and ethnicity, religion, 
and cultural background. 

The Group’s commitment to diversity is  
underpinned by the following key principles:

•	� Diversity is necessary to deliver on objectives;

•	� The Group will aspire to have a workforce that 
reflects the communities in which it is based 
and communities in which employees live; and,

•	� The objectives set in support of diversity will be 
transparent, achievable, and fit for purpose.

The measurable objectives that have been set to 
achieve diversity principles include:

•	� Place particular emphasis on female 
participation in all levels of the organisation;

•	� Monitor and report on the number of females 
within the organisation; and,

•	� Review recruitment processes to enable the 
achievement of diversification goals within all 
levels of the organisation.

The Company is aiming to achieve a diverse mix of 
skills and experience across the financial, legal, 
governance, corporate, development, operational and 
technical fields.

As at 30 June 2012, the proportion of women 
employed across the Group, as a whole, and at  
Board level were:

Number

Number 
of 
Women Percentage

Board 5 - -

Senior 
Executive 3 1 33.3%

Employees 27 8 29.6%

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE
The Board has determined that individual Directors 
have the right in connection with their duties and 
responsibilities as Directors, to seek independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense. With 
the exception of expenses for legal advice in relation 
to Directors’ rights and duties, the engagement of 
an outside adviser is subject to prior approval of the 
Chairman and this will not be withheld unreasonably.

CONTINUOUS REVIEW OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
Directors consider, on an ongoing basis, how 
management information is presented to them and 
whether such information is sufficient to enable 
them to discharge their duties as Directors of the 
Group. Such information must be sufficient to enable 
the Directors to determine appropriate operating 
and financial strategies from time to time in light of 
changing circumstances and economic conditions. 
The Directors recognise that mineral exploration is 
a business with inherent risks and that operational 
strategies adopted should, notwithstanding, be 
directed towards improving or maintaining the net 
worth of the Group.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND TRADING POLICY
The Group has adopted a Code of Conduct for both 
Company executives and Company employees 
that promotes the highest standards of ethics and 
integrity in carrying out their duties to the Group.

The Group has adopted a trading policy which 
requires that executives in possession of confidential 
information are prohibited from trading in the 
Company’s securities until two days after the 
information has been released to the market.
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Corporate Governance Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
(continued)

CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE AND COMMUNICATION 
WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Responsibility for supervision of Azimuth’s 
compliance with continuous disclosure lies with the 
Board via its Continuous Disclosure Policy. 

The Board as a whole is responsible for investor 
relations and has the authority and responsibility 
for approving market disclosure, which in practice 
is exercised in consultation with the Company 
Secretary. The Board reviews announcements made 
each month, and considers disclosure obligations in 
the context of each item of business which comes 
before it.

Azimuth considers its disclosure of financial results 
meets the standards outlined in the ASX Guidelines. 
This disclosure includes availability of materials on 
the Azimuth website and provision of all information 
necessary for investors to make informed decisions 
about an investment in Azimuth securities.

Azimuth aims to provide good quality, clear 
communication with shareholders, using available 
methods and technologies through the adoption of  
its shareholder communications policy.

Shareholder meetings are viewed by the Directors 
as an opportunity for shareholders to meet with 
and question the Board and management of 
Azimuth. Azimuth’s external auditor attends the 
Annual General Meeting and is available to answer 
shareholder questions.

Azimuth’s website is a key source of information 
for the Company’s shareholders and prospective 
shareholders. Azimuth places Company 
announcements on the site immediately following 
confirmation of their release to the market.

Further communication with shareholders occurs 
with the distribution of the annual report (unless 
shareholders have chosen not to receive these). 
Email is also an important method of communication 
for investors. Key announcements and updates can 
be received by email where shareholders provide 
their details to Azimuth or the appointed share 
registrar.

RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
The identification and management of risk, 
including calculated risk-taking activity is viewed by 
management as an essential component in creating 
shareholder value.

Management, with the oversight and guidance 
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
is responsible for developing, maintaining and 
improving the Group’s risk management and internal 
control system. Management provides the Audit and 

Risk Management Committee, and the Board with 
periodic reports identifying areas of potential risks 
and the safeguards in place to efficiently manage 
material business risks. These risk management 
and internal control systems are in place to protect 
the financial statements of the entity from potential 
misstatement, and the Board is responsible for 
satisfying itself quarterly, or more frequently as 
required, that management has developed a sound 
system of risk management and internal control.

Strategic and operational risks are reviewed at least 
annually as part of the forecasting and budgeting 
process. The Group has identified and actively 
monitors a number of risks inherent in the industry  
in which the Group operates.

The Board also receives a written assurance from the 
persons performing the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) roles, that to the 
best of their knowledge and belief, the declaration 
provided to the Board in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control, and 
that the system is operating effectively in relation to 
financial reporting risks. The Board notes that due to 
its nature, internal control assurance from the CEO 
and CFO can only be reasonable rather than absolute. 
This is due to such factors as the need for 

judgement, the use of testing on a sample basis, 
the inherent limitations in internal control and 
because much of the evidence is persuasive rather 
than conclusive and therefore is not and cannot be 
designed to detect all weaknesses in internal  
|control procedures.

ASX PRINCIPLES OF GOOD CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
The Board has reviewed its current practices 
in light of the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council’s “Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations with 2010 Amendments 2nd 
Edition” with a view to making amendments where 
applicable after considering the Group’s size and  
the resources it has available.

The Group’s corporate governance policies are 
available on its website: 
www.azimuthresources.com.au.

As the Group’s activities develop in size, nature and 
scope, the size of the Board and the implementation 
of any additional formal corporate governance 
committees will be given further consideration.
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Corporate Governance Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
(continued)

A description of the Group’s main corporate governance practices is set out below:

ASX Principle Reference/Comment

PRINCIPLE 1: Lay solid foundation for management and oversight

1.1 Companies should establish the 
functions reserved to the board and 
those delegated to senior executives 
and disclose those functions.

A formal board charter has been adopted that details the function  
and responsibilities of the board and its members. The senior 
executives have been delegated management responsibilities, while  
the board is responsible primarily to shareholders and major 
stakeholders. Responsibilities of the board include: 
• Overseeing the Company, including its control systems; 
• Appointing and removing the Managing Director; 
• �Reviewing and monitoring systems of risk management and internal 

control, codes of conduct, and legal compliance;
• Monitoring senior executive performance; and 
• Approving and monitoring financial reporting.

1.2 Companies should disclose 
the process for evaluating the 
performance of senior executives.

Due to the size and nature of the Group, the performance of all 
Directors is reviewed as and when needed. Each director is required  
to assess the performance of fellow directors annually and report to  
the Chairman. The outcome of the review is presented to the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Directors have been 
selected due to their specific experience and skill set; they are  
required to retire and offer themselves for re-election by  
shareholders every three years.

PRINCIPLE 2: Structure the board to add value

2.1 A majority of the board should be 
independent directors.

Of the five directors appointed to the board, three are independent 
non-executive directors, and one is a non-executive director. Applying 
the ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance in assessing 
independence, three of the non-executive directors listed above 
(namely: Michael Hunt; Dean Felton; and Sean Harvey) are considered 
independent. Dominic O’Sullivan is not considered independent, having 
been an executive of the Group in the past three years.

2.2 The chair should be an independent 
director.

The chair is responsible for leadership of the board. The chair,  
Michael Hunt, is an independent director.

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive 
officer should not be exercised by the 
same individual.

The roles of chair and chief executive officer are not exercised by the 
same individual. There is a clear division of responsibility at the head  
of the Company.

2.4 The board should establish a 
nomination committee.

A Nomination and Remuneration Committee has been established.  
The purpose of this committee is to examine the appointment and 
selection practices of the Company.

2.5 Companies should disclose 
the process for evaluating the 
performance of the board, its 
committees and individual  
directors.

Evaluation of the performance of the board, committees, and  
individual directors occurs annually. The performance of each  
member is measured against corporate milestones, committee 
charters, peer reviews, and may also be periodically and  
independently reviewed by the chair of the board.

PRINCIPLE 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

3.1 Companies should establish a code  
of conduct and disclose the code.

There is an established code of conduct that all employees and 
directors are required to sign. All directors and employees are  
expected to act with objectivity and integrity.

3.2 Companies should establish a policy 
concerning diversity and disclose 
the policy or a summary of that 
policy. The policy should include 
requirements for the board to

establish measurable objectives 
for achieving gender diversity for 
the board to assess annually both 
the objectives and the progress in 
achieving them.

The Company has established a diversity policy, which includes the 
requirement for the board to establish measurable objectives for 
achieving greater diversity throughout the Company. The board  
assess objectives and progress at least annually.



AZIMUTH RESOURCES LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2012PAGE 34 

Corporate Governance Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
(continued)

ASX Principle Reference/Comment

PRINCIPLE 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making (continued)

3.3 Companies should disclose in  
each annual report the measurable 
objectives for achieving gender 
diversity set by the board in 
accordance with the diversity  
policy and progress towards  
achieving them

The measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity have  
been disclosed and progress has been made towards achieving  
them. The governance culture is one that embraces diversity with  
a particular focus on the participation of women.

3.4 Companies should disclose in 
each annual report the proportion 
of women employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior 
executive positions and women on  
the board.

The proportion of women employees, senior executives and those on 
the board are disclosed within the annual report. A review is conducted 
at least annually to review the proportion of women and men at all 
levels within the Group. This obligation has been included within the 
charter of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

PRINCIPLE 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The board should establish an audit 
committee.

There is an established Audit and Risk Management Committee.  
The purpose of this committee is to focus on the integrity of the  
Group’s financial reporting, the management of the external audit 
and any non-audit services, and the identification, monitoring and 
management of risks.

4.2 The audit committee should be 
structured so that it:

• consists only of non-executive 
directors;

• consists of a majority of 
independent directors;

• is chaired by an independent chair, 
who is not chair of the board; and

• has at least three members.

The committee comprises three independent non-executive directors. 
The committee is of sufficient size, independence and technical 
expertise. The members of the committee are all financially literate, 
and all members have an in depth understanding of the industry in 
which the Group operates.

4.3 The audit committee should have a 
formal charter.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee charter clearly sets 
out the committee’s roles and responsibilities, composition and 
membership.

PRINCIPLE 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Companies should establish 
written policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements and to 
ensure accountability at a senior

executive level for that compliance 
and disclose those policies or a 
summary of those policies.

The Group has processes and continuous disclosure policies in  
place that ensures compliance with ASX Listing Rules and ensure  
that all announcements are made in a timely manner, are factual,  
do not omit material information, and are expressed clearly.  
Employees and management are required to report any potential 
material information to the Chairman, Board or Company Secretary,  
as each case requires. 

PRINCIPLE 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Companies should design a 
communications policy for promoting 
effective communication with 
shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings, and 
disclose their policy or a summary of 
that policy.

A communication policy has been developed that promotes effective 
communication with shareholders and stakeholders. The Group 
considers new technologies that are available that will enable 
effective communication with shareholders, and improved access to 
shareholders unable to attend general meetings. General meetings 
are conducted in a manner that allows reasonable opportunities 
for shareholder participation. The Group’s website is also a mode 
of communication to shareholders and stakeholders. The website 
compliments the information officially released to the market, and 
enables broader access to Company information. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
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ASX Principle Reference/Comment

PRINCIPLE 7: Recognise and manage risk

7.1 Companies should establish policies 
for the oversight and management of 
material business risks and disclose 
a summary of those policies.

The Group has established an Audit and Risk Management  
Committee, and policies regarding the oversight and management of 
material business risks. The Committee makes recommendations to 
the Board, who are ultimately responsible for ensuring the Group’s key 
business risks are identified and managed, and reviewing the Group’s 
policies on risk oversight and management.

7.2 The board should require 
management to design and 
implement the risk management  
and internal control system to 
manage the Company’s material 
business risks and report to it on 
whether those risks are being 
managed effectively. The board 
should disclose that management 
has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
management of its material  
business risks.

Management is responsible for developing, maintaining and 
improving the Group’s risk management and internal control system. 
Management provides the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
and the Board with periodic reports identifying areas of potential risks 
and safeguards in place to efficiently manage material business risks. 
These risk management and internal control systems are in place to 
protect the financial statements from potential misstatement.

7.3 The board should disclose whether 
it has received assurance from the 
chief executive officer (or equivalent) 
and the chief financial officer (or 
equivalent) that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control 
and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in 
relation to financial reporting risks.

The Board receives a written assurance from the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) that to the best of 
their knowledge and belief, the declaration provided is in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act and is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control, and that the system 
is operating effectively in relation to financial reporting risks. The Board 
notes that due to its nature, internal control assurance from the CEO 
and CFO can only be reasonable rather than absolute. This is due to 
such factors as the need for judgement, and the inherent limitations in 
internal control due to much of the evidence being persuasive rather 
than conclusive, and therefore, it is not and cannot be designed to 
detect all weaknesses in internal control procedures.

PRINCIPLE 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The board should establish a 
remuneration committee.

The board has established a Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.

8.2 The remuneration committee should 
be structured so that it:

• consists of a majority of 
independent directors;

• is chaired by an independent chair; 
and

• has at least three members.

The committee comprises of a majority of independent directors; is 
chaired by an independent director; and the committee has at least 
three members. The committee is of sufficient size and independence 
to discharge its mandate effectively.

PRINCIPLE 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly (continued)

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish 
the structure of Non-Executive 
Directors’ remuneration from that 
of Executive Directors and senior 
executives.

The Board acknowledges the grant of options to Directors is contrary to 
Recommendation 8.2 of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations. However, the Board considers the grant of Director 
Options to be reasonable in the circumstances, given the necessity to 
attract and retain the highest calibre of professionals to the Group, 
whilst maintaining the Group’s cash reserves.
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Aaron Mcleod - Exploration Manager, Collin Griffith, Roopesh Sukhu, Annalisa Moore, Boaz Wade, Rondi Samdass, Paul Criddle - COO

Azimuth Exploration Manager and COO with five bursary students who have completed the 12-month practical field work component of 
their four-year Mineral Resource Engineering degree at the University of Guyana, with Azimuth’s subsidiary, Pharsalus Gold Inc.

Models at the GuyExpo - September 2012
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012



AZIMUTH RESOURCES LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2012PAGE 38 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note

Consolidated 
2012 

$

Consolidated 
2011 

$
 

Revenue 2 21,448 36,925

Other revenue 2 1,374,311 284,753

Administration expense (802,221) (384,474)

Compliance and regulatory expense (942,899) (482,253)

Consultancy expense (261,509) (136,591)

Directors’ fees (625,429) (532,227)

Employee benefit expense (528,133) (325,388)

Occupancy expense (128,622) (175,536)

Share based payments expense (1,022,696) (720,678)

Public relations expense (95,015) (27,447)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 (42,597) (43,876)

Exploration expenditure written off due to sale/surrender - (161,796)

Exploration expenditure incurred (663) -

Loss on sale of plant and equipment (136,899) (11,923)

Impairment expense (2,017) -

Foreign currency loss - (708,347)
 

Loss before income tax expense 4 (3,192,941) (3,388,858)

Income tax expense 5 - -
 

Net loss for the year (3,192,941) (3,388,858)
 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Foreign currency translation differences 25,197 (279,038)
 

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to members (3,167,744) (3,667,896)

 
Basic loss per share – cents per share 4 (0.86) (1.16)

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note

Consolidated 
2012 

$

Consolidated 
2011 

$
 

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 7,996,483 8,022,913

Trade and other receivables 7 860,165 619,281

Inventories 8 447,927 8,328

9,304,575 8,650,522

Non-current assets held for sale 9 - 136,961
 

Total current assets 9,304,575 8,787,483
 

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 7 26,056 -

Leasehold improvements 10 9,998 16,361

Plant and equipment 11 2,272,185 1,262,830

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 12 46,366,549 26,120,656
 

Total non-current assets 48,674,788 27,399,847

TOTAL ASSETS 57,979,363 36,187,330
 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 1,466,374 544,588
 

Total current liabilities 1,466,374 544,588
 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 14 130,620 -

Deferred tax liabilities 15 5,891,455 5,891,455
 

Total non-current liabilities 6,022,075 5,891,455

TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,488,449 6,436,043

NET ASSETS 50,490,914 29,751,287
 

EQUITY

Issued capital 16 61,561,578 38,676,903

Reserves 2,050,475 1,860,348

Accumulated losses (13,121,139) (10,785,964)
 

TOTAL EQUITY 50,490,914 29,751,287

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

2012 Consolidated

Issued  
Capital

$

Share-Based 
Payment 
Reserve 

$

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

$

Accumulated 
Losses 

$

Total  
Equity 

$
 

Total equity at the beginning of the year 38,676,903 1,989,850 (129,502) (10,785,964) 29,751,287

Loss for the year - - - (3,192,941) (3,192,941)

Other comprehensive income - - 25,197 - 25,197

Total comprehensive loss  
for the year

- - 25,197 (3,192,941) (3,167,744)

Transactions with equity holders:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs

21,172,005 - - - 21,172,005

Share-based payments - 1,022,696 - - 1,022,696

Exercise of options 1,712,670 (852,812) - 852,812 1,712,670

Expiry of options - (4,954) - 4,954 -

Total equity at 30 June 61,561,578 2,154,780 (104,305) (13,121,139) 50,490,914

2011 Consolidated

Issued  
Capital

$

Share-Based 
Payment 
Reserve 

$

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

$

Accumulated 
Losses 

$

Total  
Equity 

$
 

Total equity at the beginning of the year 27,100,406 1,359,707 149,536 (7,487,641) 21,122,008

Loss for the year - - - (3,388,858) (3,388,858)

Other comprehensive income - - (279,038) - (279,038)

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (279,038) (3,388,858) (3,667,896)

Transactions with equity holders:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs

11,476,497 - - - 11,476,497

Share-based payments - 720,678 - - 720,678

Exercise of options 100,000 (42,325) - 42,325 100,000

Expiry of options - (48,210) - 48,210 -

Total equity at 30 June 38,676,903 1,989,850 (129,502) (10,785,964) 29,751,287

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Note

Consolidated 
2012 

$

Consolidated 
2011 

$
 

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 214,965 150,373

Interest received 627,393 233,575

Payments to suppliers and employees (3,416,939) (1,061,515)

Net cash used in operating activities 20 (2,574,581) (677,567)
 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment (1,417,846) (979,658)

Payments for exploration expenditure (16,233,106) (5,766,075)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 275,000 11,617

Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary - -

Net cash used in investing activities (17,375,952) (6,734,116)
 

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issues of shares 21,087,386 12,040,000

Capital raising costs (1,007,710) (463,503)

Net cash flows provided by financing activities 20,079,676 11,576,497
 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 129,143 4,164,814

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 8,022,913 3,852,477

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (155,573) 5,622

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 7,996,483 8,022,913

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

NOTE 1: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in 
preparing the financial report of the Group, are  
stated to assist in a general understanding of the 
financial report. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless  
otherwise indicated.

Azimuth is a Company limited by shares incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia whose shares are publicly 
traded on the official list of the Australian Securities 
Exchange (code: AZH). The financial statements 
are presented in Australian dollars which is the 
Company’s functional currency.

A. Basis of Preparation
This general purpose financial report has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (including Australian Interpretations) 
adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

The financial report has been prepared on the  
basis of historical costs and does not take into 
account changing money values or, except where 
stated, current valuations of non-current assets  
(if applicable).

The financial report was authorised for issue by the 
Directors on 13 September 2012.

Compliance with IFRS
The financial report complies with Australian 
Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by  
the International Accounting Standards Board.

Going Concern
The financial report has been prepared on a going 
concern basis, which contemplates the continuity  
of normal business activity and the realisation of 
assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal 
course of business.

B. Significant Accounting Estimates and 
Assumptions 
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. The Directors evaluate 
estimates and judgements incorporated into the 
financial report based on historical knowledge and 
best available current information. Estimates assume 
a reasonable expectation of future events and are 
based on current trends and economic data, obtained 
both externally and within the Group.

The carrying amounts of certain assets and  
liabilities are often determined based on estimates 
and assumptions of future events. The key estimates 
and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of certain assets and liabilities within  
the next annual reporting period are:

i) Impairment of capitalised exploration and  
evaluation expenditure 
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration 
and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number 
of factors, including whether the Group decides to 
exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it 
successfully recovers the related exploration and 
evaluation asset through sale.

Factors that could impact the future recoverability 
include the level of reserves and resources, future 
technological changes, which could impact the cost 
of mining, future legal changes (including changes to 
environmental restoration obligations) and changes  
to commodity prices.

To the extent that capitalised exploration and 
evaluation expenditure is determined not to be 
recoverable in the future, results and net assets will 
be reduced in the period in which this determination 
is made.

In addition, exploration and evaluation expenditure 
is capitalised if activities in the area of interest have 
not yet reached a stage that permits a reasonable 
assessment of the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable reserves. To the extent 
it is determined in the future that this capitalised 
expenditure should be written off, results and net 
assets will be reduced in the period in which this 
determination is made.

ii) Recoverability of potential deferred tax assets 
The Group recognises deferred income tax assets 
in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is 
probable that the benefit of those losses will be 
utilised. Assessing the future utilisation of these 
losses requires the Group to make significant 
estimates related to expectations of future taxable 
income. Estimates of future taxable income are 
based on forecast cash flows from operations and 
the application of existing tax laws. To the extent 
that future cash flows and taxable income differ 
significantly from estimates, this could result in 
significant changes to the deferred income tax  
assets recognised, which would in turn impact  
the financial results. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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iii) Share-based payment transactions 
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled 
transactions with management and other parties by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is 
determined by the Board of Directors using the Black 
& Scholes formula, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the equity instruments were 
granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions 
relating to equity-settled share-based payments 
would have no impact on the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting 
period but may impact expenses and equity.

C. Principles of Consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
assets and liabilities of Azimuth Resources Limited 
and its subsidiaries at 30 June 2012 and the results of 
all subsidiaries for the year then ended. A subsidiary 
is any entity controlled by Azimuth Resources Limited.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special 
purpose entities) over which the Group has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect 
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Group controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to 
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the 
Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are prepared from differing reporting periods as 
the parent Company, using consistent accounting 
policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any 
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

All inter-company balances and transactions, 
including unrealised profits arising from intra-group 
transactions, have been eliminated in full. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated unless costs cannot be 
recovered. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted 
for at cost less any impairment in the individual 
financial statements of Azimuth Resources Limited.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group and cease 
to be consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred out of the Group. Where there is a loss 
of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial 
statements include the results for the part of the 
reporting period in which Azimuth Resources Ltd  
has control.

Investments in subsidiaries are held at the lower of 
cost and recoverable amount.

D. Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised:

ii) Interest income 
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate 
basis that takes into account the effective yield on the 
financial asset.

ii) Gold sales 
Revenue from the sale of gold is recognised when the 
Company has transferred to the buyer substantially 
all the significant risks and rewards of ownership. 
Revenue is net of royalties, which is not considered  
an income tax.

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of 
financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand 
and short term deposits with an original maturity of 
six months or less.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above, which are readily 
convertible to cash on hand and which are used in the 
cash management function on a day-to-day basis.

F. Income Tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the year 
is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable 
income based on the notional income tax rate for 
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised  
for temporary differences at the tax rates expected  
to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities 
are settled, based on those tax rates which are 
enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. 
The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative 
amounts of deductible and taxable temporary 
differences to measure the deferred tax asset or 
liability. An exception is made for certain temporary 
differences arising from the initial recognition of an 
asset or a liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is 
recognised in relation to these temporary differences 
if they arose in a transaction, other than a business 
combination, that at the time of the transaction did 
not affect either accounting profit or loss or taxable 
profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if  

NOTE 1: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)
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it is probable that future taxable amounts will  
be available to utilise those temporary differences  
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised 
for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled 
entities where the parent entity is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred 
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where 
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and 
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable 
to amounts recognised directly in equity are also 
recognised directly in equity.

G. Employee Entitlements
Liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and 
other current employee entitlements expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date and are measured at 
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled. Liabilities for sick leave are recognised 
when the leave is taken and measured at the rates 
paid or payable.

Contributions to employee superannuation plans are 
charged as an expense as the contributions are paid 
or become payable.

H. Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”), except 
where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods 
and services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authorities, in which case the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of an item of the expense item as applicable and 
receivables and payables in the statement of financial 
position are shown inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or  
payable to, the taxation authority is included as part  
of receivables or payables in the statement of 
financial position.

Cash flows are included the statement of cash flows 
on a gross basis and the GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities, 

which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net 
of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority.

I. Leasehold Improvements, Plant and Equipment
Leasehold improvements, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the items. Repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income during the reporting period  
in which they were incurred. Depreciation is 
calculated using both the straight line and 
diminishing value method to allocate asset costs 
over their estimated useful lives, or in the case of 
leasehold improvements, the unexpired period  
of the lease. Depreciation/amortisation rates  
applying to each class of depreciable asset are  
as follows:

Leasehold improvements		  Lease term
Plant & equipment		  20-50% 
Field equipment			   25%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance date. An asset’s carrying amount is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposals 
are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying 
amount. These are included in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

J. Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and selling expenses.

K. Foreign Currency Translation
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities 
is measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which that entity operates. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s 
functional and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
functional currency using average exchange rates 
for the period, or where possible, the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign 

NOTE 1: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)
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currency monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated at the  
year-end exchange rate. 

Group companies
The functional currency of the overseas subsidiaries 
is currently US dollars and Guyanese dollars. 
The Board of Directors assesses the appropriate 
functional currency of these entities on an  
ongoing basis. 

L. Business Combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used to 
account for all business combinations, regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets are 
acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the 
assets given, securities issued or liabilities incurred 
or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition. Where equity 
instruments are issued in an acquisition, the fair  
value of the instruments is their published market 
price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare 
circumstances, it can be demonstrated that the 
published price at the date of exchange is an 
unreliable indicator of fair value and that other 
evidence and valuation methods provide a more 
reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs 
arising on the issue of equity instruments are 
recognised directly in equity.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair  
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the 
extent of any minority interest. The excess of the  
cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is 
less than the Group’s share of the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired,  
the difference is recognised directly in the  
statement of comprehensive income, but only  
after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired.

M. Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days  
of recognition.

N. Issued Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Issued  
and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value  
of the consideration received by the Company.  
Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary 

shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction 
of the share proceeds received.

O. Earnings per Share
i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the 
Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity 
other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year.

ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in 
the determination of basic earnings per share to take 
into account the after income tax effect of interest 
and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares and the weighted average 
number of shares assumed to have been issued 
for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

P. Exploration, Evaluation and  
Development Expenditure
Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure 
incurred is accumulated in respect of each 
identifiable area of interest and is subject to 
impairment testing. These costs are carried forward 
only if they relate to an area of interest for which 
rights of tenure are current and in respect of which:

•	� such costs are expected to be recouped through 
the successful development and exploitation of 
the area of interest, or alternatively by its sale; or

•	� exploration and/or evaluation activities in the 
area have not reached a stage which permits 
a reasonable assessment of the existence or 
otherwise of economically recoverable reserves 
and active or significant operations in, or in 
relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

In the event that an area of interest is abandoned 
or if the Directors consider the expenditure to be of 
reduced value, accumulated costs carried forward 
are impaired in the year in which that assessment 
is made. A regular review is undertaken of each 
area of interest to determine the appropriateness of 
continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that 
area of interest.

Where a mineral resource has been identified and 
where it is expected that future expenditures will 
be recovered by future exploitation or sale, the 
impairment of the exploration and evaluation may  
be reversed and transferred to development costs. 
Once production commences, the accumulated costs 
for the relevant area of interest are amortised over 
the life of the area according to the rate of depletion 
of the economically recoverable reserves.

NOTE 1: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)
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Costs of site restoration and rehabilitation are 
recognised when the Group has a present obligation, 
the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable 
and the amount of the provision can be reliably 
estimated.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the 
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those  
cash flows.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed  
for impairment if:

(i) sufficient data exists to determine technical 
feasibility and commercial viability, and

(ii) facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

For the purpose of impairment testing, exploration 
and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-
generating units to which the exploration activity 
relates. The cash generating unit shall not be  
larger than the area of interest.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial  
viability of the extraction of mineral resources in  
an area of interest are demonstrable, exploration  
and evaluation assets attributable to that area of 
interest are first tested for impairment and then  
re-classified from intangible assets to mining 
property and development assets within property, 
plant and equipment.

Q. Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either 
operating or finance leases based on the economic 
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks 
and benefits incidental to ownership.

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, 
where the lessor effectively retains substantially all 
of the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased 
item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease.

R. Share-Based Payments
The Company has provided payments to related 
parties in the form of share-based compensation, 
whereby related parties render services in exchange 
for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled 
transactions’).

The cost of these equity-settled transactions is 
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at 
which they are granted. The fair value is determined 
using the Black & Scholes method.

The Black & Scholes option pricing model takes  
into account the exercise price, the term of the option, 
the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date 
and expected price volatility of the underlying share, 
the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest 
rate for the term of the option.

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted 
to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes 
the impact of any non market vesting conditions. 
Non market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to become exercisable. At each balance 
date, the entity revises its estimates of the number  
of options that are expected to become exercisable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, 
together with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period in which the performance conditions 
are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 
parties become fully entitled to the award  
(‘vesting date’).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity- 
settled transactions at each reporting date until 
vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which the  
vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of 
options that, in the opinion of the Directors of the 
Company, will ultimately vest. This opinion is formed 
based on the best available information at balance 
date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood 
of market performance conditions being met as 
the effect of these conditions is included in the 
determination of fair value at grant date.

Where the terms of an equity-settled transaction  
are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised 
as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an 
expense is recognised for any increase in the value 
of the transaction as a result of the modification, as 
measured at the date of modification.

Where the Group acquires some form of interest 
in an exploration tenement or an exploration area 
of interest and the consideration comprises equity 
instruments, the fair value of the equity instruments 
granted is measured at grant date. The cost of equity 
securities is recognised within capitalised mineral 
exploration and evaluation expenditure, together with 
a corresponding increase in equity.

S. Segment Reporting
A business segment is a distinguishable component 
of the entity that is engaged in providing products or 

NOTE 1: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(continued)
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services that are subject to risks and returns that are 
different to those of other business segments.  
A geographical segment is a distinguishable 
component of the entity that is engaged in providing 
products or services within a particular economic 
environment and is subject to risks and returns that 
are different from those of segments operating in 
other economic environments.

T. Comparative Information
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative 

figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.

NOTE 3: LOSS
Loss before income tax has been determined after:

Depreciation of non-current assets
2012 

$
2011 

$
 

Plant and equipment 30,791 33,705

Fixtures and fittings 4,652 2,586

Amortisation – leasehold improvements 7,154 7,585

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 42,597 43,876

NOTE 4: LOSS PER SHARE

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
Basic loss per share - cents (0.86) (1.16)

Loss used in the calculation of basic loss per share (3,192,941) (3,388,858)
 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in 
calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 371,303,135 292,251,445

None of the 23,057,954 options on issue as at the balance date are included in the calculation of the weighted average number  
of shares for diluted earnings per share as they are considered anti-dilutive due to the Group making a loss for the year.

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
Gold sales revenue 21,448 36,925

Other revenue

Interest revenue 615,263 284,683

Profit on sale of non-current assets held for sale 137,172 -

Foreign exchange gain 620,597 -

Other revenue 1,279 70

Total other revenue 1,374,311 284,753

NOTE 2: REVENUE
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NOTE 5: INCOME TAX

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
(a) Income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense are:

Current Income Tax

Current income tax charge - -

Deferred income tax - -

Relating to movements in temporary differences - -

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income - -

(b) Amounts charged directly to equity

There were no amounts charged directly to equity.

(c) Numerical reconciliation between aggregate tax expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income  
and tax expense calculated per the statutory income tax rate

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting loss before income tax multiplied by the Company’s  
applicable income tax rate is as follows:

2012 
$

2011 
$

Net loss before income tax (3,192,941) (3,388,858)

Income tax at 30% (957,882) (1,016,657)

Effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable income 556,240 264,144

Effect of expenses deductible in determining taxable income (763,631) -

Adjustments in respect of deferred income tax of previous years - 21,910

Effect of tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 662,987 744,436

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions* 502,286 (13,833)

Income tax expense/(benefit) - -

* Takatu Minerals Ltd, Pharsalus Gold Inc and Pharsalus Inc operate in tax jurisdictions with differing tax rates.

The Group has no franking credits available for offset against future taxable amounts.

Azimuth Resources Limited has unrecognised tax losses arising in Australia, Canada, and Guyana, which are available indefinitely 
to offset against future profits of the Company providing the tests for deductibility against future profits are met.
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NOTE 5: INCOME TAX (continued)

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
Unutilised Australian Tax Losses 11,452,731 9,893,922

Unutilised Foreign Tax Losses 1,991,107 987,555

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Accruals 9,000 50,564

Exploration expense DTL - (40,532)

Tax losses 3,967,098 3,513,070

Capital raising costs and other capital items 448,874 205,609

4,424,972 3,728,711

NOTE 6: CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
Cash at bank and on hand (a) 7,921,483 8,022,913

Deposits at call 75,000 -

7,996,483 8,022,913

(a) Cash at bank is subject to fixed and floating interest rates at an effective interest rate of
3.83% per 

annum
5.66% per 

annum

NOTE 7: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current
2012 

$
2011 

$
 

GST receivables 47,451 21,363

Deposits and prepayments 739,006 523,985

Other Receivables 73,708 73,933

860,165 619,281

Non-Current

Deposits/bonds 26,056 -

26,056 -

The above amounts do not bear interest and their carrying amount is equivalent  
to their fair value.

NOTE 8: INVENTORIES

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
Raw materials and consumables at cost 447,927 8,328

Inventories on hand at 30 June 2012 consist of fuel, drilling consumables  
and general stores.
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NOTE 9: NON CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 

Assets classified as held for sale
2012 

$
2011 

$
 

Capitalised exploration and evaluation costs

Opening balance 135,107 134,303

Expenditure 2,721 804

Sale of assets (137,828) -

Closing balance - 135,107
 

Plant and equipment

Opening balance 1,854 1,854

Written off (1,532) -

Transfer to plant and equipment (322) -

Closing Balance - 1,854

Total non current assets held for sale - 136,961

NOTE 10: LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

At 30 June 2012
2012 

$
2011 

$
 

Cost 13,620 26,329

Accumulated amortisation (3,622) (10,010)

Effect of foreign exchange - 42

Net book value 9,998 16,361
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NOTE 11: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant & 
Equipment

$

Fixtures & 
Fittings

$

Work in 
progress

$
Buildings

$
Total

$
 

Balance at 1 July 2010 571,379 12,998 4,482 - 588,859

Additions 1,036,373 - 49,351 - 1,085,724

Disposals (30,650) - - - (30,650)

Depreciation for the year (253,887) (2,586) - - (256,473)

Effect of foreign exchange (118,859) (935) (4,836) - (124,630)

Balance at 30 June 2011 1,204,356 9,477 48,997 - 1,262,830
 
Additions 1,358,464 18,763 232,821 173,355 1,783,403

Disposals (333,780) (7,103) - - (340,883)

Transfers - - (288,788) 288,788 -

Depreciation for the year (499,119) (4,706) - - (503,825)

Effect of foreign exchange 48,329 528 6,970 14,833 70,660

Balance at 30 June 2012 1,778,250 16,959 - 476,976 2,272,185
 

Plant & 
Equipment

$

Fixtures & 
Fittings

$

Work in 
progress

$
Buildings

$
Total

$

At 30 June 2012

Cost 2,527,070 23,658 - 462,143 3,012,871

Accumulated depreciation (736,350) (4,336) - - (740,686)

Foreign exchange translation 
differences (12,470) (2,363) - 14,833 -

Net book value 1,778,250 16,959 - 476,976 2,272,185

At 30 June 2011

Cost 1,442,561 11,357 52,974 - 1,506,892

Accumulated depreciation (287,852) (3,437) - - (291,289)

Foreign exchange translation 
differences 49,647 1,557 (3,977) - 47,227

Net book value 1,204,356 9,477 48,997 - 1,262,830

Capital Commitments 
The Group does not have any capital commitments at 30 June 2012.
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NOTE 12: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
Costs carried forward in respect of:

Exploration and evaluation phase, at cost 46,366,549 26,120,656
 

Reconciliation:

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation expenditure is  
set out below:

Carrying amount at beginning of year 26,120,656 22,472,028

Exploration costs incurred during the year 19,781,957 4,498,783

Exploration expenditure written off due to sale/surrender - (161,796)

Refunds - (447)

Effect of foreign exchange 463,936 (687,912)

Carrying amount at end of year 46,366,549 26,120,656

Exploration commitments 
In order to maintain rights of tenure to exploration permits, the Group has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration 
work and expend minimum amounts of money.

These commitments may be varied as a result of renegotiations, relinquishments, farm-outs, sales or carrying out work in excess 
of the permit obligations. The minimum expenditure required by the Group on exploration permits within the next 12 months and 
as at the balance date is $5,247,418 (2011: $1,572,543). In addition to this required exploration expenditure are payments due to 
vendors as staged purchase consideration totalling $701,599 ($2011: $2,355,510). Drilling commitments disclosed in Note 19 can 
be utilised to satisfy the exploration expenditure commitment above. Commitments beyond this time frame cannot be estimated 
reliably as minimum expenditure requirements are reassessed annually. The commitments have not been provided for in the 
financial report. The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward in relation to areas in interest in the exploration and evaluation 
phase is dependent upon the successful development and/or commercial exploitation or alternatively, sale of the respective areas 
of interest.

The Group’s exploration properties may be subjected to claim(s) under native title, or contain sacred sites, or sites of significance 
to Aboriginal people. As a result, exploration properties or areas within the tenements may be subject to exploration restrictions, 
mining restrictions and/or claims for compensation. At this time, it is not possible to quantify whether such claims exist, or the 
quantum of such claims.
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NOTE 13: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
CURRENT

Trade payables (a) 1,346,267 376,040

Accruals 77,618 168,548

Employee benefits (b) 42,489 -

1,466,374 544,588

(a)	 Trade payables are non interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

(b)	 Employee benefits relate to annual leave accrued by employees, payable within the 
next 12 months. No long service leave is included as current employees are not within the 
qualifying period. 

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
NON-CURRENT

Provision for withholding tax (b) 130,620 -

(a)	 Provision for withholding tax

Provision relates to withholding tax payable by Guyanese subsidiaries upon repayment of intercompany loans.

(b)	 Movements in provisions

The movement in the provisions relates to the current period ended 30 June 2012. There were no provisions in prior periods. 

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
NON-CURRENT

Carrying amount at beginning of year - -

Charged to statement of comprehensive income 130,620 -

Carrying amount at end of year 130,620 -

NOTE 14: PROVISIONS
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NOTE 15: DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

2012 
$

2011 
$

 
Deferred tax liabilities are attributable to the following:

Exploration and evaluation expenditure* 5,891,455 5,891,455

* Recognised on acquisition of Takatu Minerals Ltd.

NOTE 16: ISSUED CAPITAL

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY
Number of 

Shares $
 

(a) Issued and Paid Up Capital

Fully paid ordinary shares 401,518,304 61,561,578

(b) Movements in fully paid shares on issue 

Balance as at 1 July 2010 259,956,622 27,100,406

Placement – 17 August 2010 20,000,000 1,400,000

Placement – 18, 21 & 22 March 2011 40,529,605 7,700,625

Share Purchase Plan – 31 March 2011 13,631,382 2,590,000

Exercise of Options – 12 May 2011 1,000,000 100,000

Placement – 23 May 2011 1,312,500 249,375

Capital raising costs - (463,503)

Balance at 30 June 2011 336,430,109 38,676,903

Exercise of Options – 22 August 2011 360,000 64,800

Placement – 10 November 2011 42,118,949 19,374,716

Exercise of Options – 8 December 2011 3,400,000 472,000

Exercise of Options – 9 February 2012 766,666 76,667

Issue of Shares for purchase of assets – 17 February 2012 3,000,000 2,805,000

Exercise of Options – 17 February 2012 4,000,000 160,000

Exercise of Options – 20 February 2012 2,500,000 190,000

Exercise of Options – 21 February 2012 25,000 2,500

Exercise of Options – 7 March 2012 50,000 5,000

Exercise of Options – 16 March 2012 150,000 15,000

Exercise of Options – 26 March 2012 5,050,000 505,000

Exercise of Options – 12 April 2012 550,000 67,000

Exercise of Options – 19 April 2012 2,817,580 112,703

Exercise of Options – 30 April 2012 150,000 27,000

Exercise of Options – 26 June 2012 150,000 15,000

Capital raising costs - (1,007,711)

Balance at 30 June 2012 401,518,304 61,561,578
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NOTE 16: ISSUED CAPITAL (continued)

The Company has an employee and consultant option plan (ECOP) under which options to subscribe for the Company’s shares 
have been granted to certain key management personnel, employees and contractors (refer Note 22).

Number of 
Options

 
$

 
(c) Share Based Payment Reserve

Balance as at 1 July 2010 32,802,200 1,359,707

Issue of ECOP options – 13 August 2011 2,000,000 45,378

Expiry of options – 19 November 2011 (300,000) (46,920)

Expiry of ECOP options – 24 November 2011 (50,000) (1,290)

Exercise of options – 12 May 2011 (1,000,000) (42,325)

Issue of options – 18 May 2011 3,000,000 430,200

Issue of ECOP options – 30 May 2011 1,500,000 245,100

Balance as at 30 June 2011 37,952,200 1,989,850

Exercise of Options – 22 August 2011 (360,000) (8,516)

Issue of ECOP Options – 24 October 2011 3,000,000 721,050

Exercise of Options – 8 December 2011 (3,400,000) (108,775)

Issue of ECOP Options – 17 January 2012(i) 2,250,000 301,646

Expiry of ECOP Options – 31 January 2012 (175,000) (4,955)

Exercise of Options – 9 February 2012 (766,666) (29,967)

Exercise of Options – 17 February 2012 (4,000,000) (208,012)

Exercise of Options – 20 February 2012 (2,500,000) (115,490)

Exercise of Options – 21 February 2012 (25,000) (582)

Exercise of Options – 7 March 2012 (50,000) (1,164)

Exercise of Options – 16 March 2012 (150,000) (3,492)

Exercise of Options – 26 March 2012 (5,050,000) (212,789)

Exercise of Options – 12 April 2012 (550,000) (10,551)

Exercise of Options – 19 April 2012 (2,817,580) (146,523)

Exercise of Options – 30 April 2012 (150,000) (3,458)

Exercise of Options – 26 June 2012 (150,000) (3,492)

Balance as at 30 June 2012 23,057,954 2,154,780

(i) The total value of options issued on 17 January 2012 amounted to $637,538. Due to vesting conditions, an amount  
of $301,646 has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year.

(c) Share Based Payment Reserve

At shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote in proportion to the paid up amount of the share  
when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of the winding up of the Company, to  
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on  
shares held.

Ordinary shares have no par value and entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of  
the Company.



AZIMUTH RESOURCES LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2012PAGE 56 

Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

NOTE 17: RESERVES
Nature and Purpose of Reserves

Share Based Payment Reserve
The share based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of all options issued as share based payments, on issue but not 
yet exercised.

The exercise prices of options on issue are disclosed in the Directors’ report accompanying this financial report. At balance date, 
23,057,954 options have vested and are exercisable. The weighted average contractual life of all options on issue as at 30 June 2012 
is 1.2 years (2011: 1.7 years).

Foreign Exchange Translation Reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations.

NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a) Capital risk management

Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a lending institution at the 
present time. The Company manages its capital structure by issuing new shares, repurchasing outstanding shares, adjusting capital 
spending, or disposing of assets. 

The capital structure is reviewed by management and the board of directors on an ongoing basis. The Company considers its capital 
to be equity contributed capital. The Company manages capital through its financial and operational budgeting and forecasting 
processes. The Company forecasts its future cash flows based on activities related to its mineral properties, and the administration 
of the Company. 

The Company’s capital management objectives, policies and processes have remained unchanged during the years ended  
June 30, 2012 and 2011.

b) Categories of financial instruments

2012 
$

2011 
$

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7,996,483 8,022,913

Trade and other receivables 886,221 619,281

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables 1,466,374 544,588

c) Financial risk management objectives
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments and accounts receivable and 
payable. The Group does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2012 (2011: None).

d) Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, 
exchange rates, and interest rates. 

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk  
from the previous period.
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i) Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise.

The carrying value of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities as at balance date are  
as follows:

ASSETS LAIBILITIES

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

US Dollars 141,473 534,296 (342,982) (41,843)

Canadian dollars - - (419,823) (21,467)

Guyanan dollars 1,471,668 145,975 (2,786) (28,641)

Total 1,613,141 680,271 (765,591) (91,951)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is exposed to US Dollar (USD), Guyanese Dollar (GYD) and Canadian Dollar (CAD) currency fluctuations.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Australian dollar against the relevant 
foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate calculated based on the analysis of the change of the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) 
exchange rate over the 2012 financial year as compared to the average exchange rate across the period and the rate in effect at 
balance date and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. 

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the 
period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. 

A positive number indicates an increase in profit or loss and other equity where the Australian Dollar strengthens against the 
respective currency, and for a weakening of the Australian Dollar against the respective currency there is an equal and opposite 
impact on the profit and other equity, shown as a negative number.

Effect on: Effect on:

Risk  
Variable Sensitivity

Profit 2012 
$

Profit 2011 
$

 Equity 2012 
$

Equity 2011 
$

USD denominated balances + 10% (20,151) 49,245 (20,151) 49,245

- 10% 20,151 (49,245) 20,151 (49,245)

CAD denominated balances + 10% (41,982) (2,147) (41,982) (2,147)

- 10% 41,982 2,147 41,982 2,147

GYD denominated balances + 10% 146,888 788,572 146,888 788,572

- 10% (146,888) (788,572) (146,888) (788,572)

ii) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on cash balances which are held at floating rates. The risk is managed by the Group by 
monitoring budgets and forecast cash flows and maximising returns on cash and cash equivalents.

NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed below:

2012 Note

Floating 
Interest Rate 

$

Non-Interest 
Bearing 

$
Total 

$
  

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 7,996,483 - 7,996,489

Trade and other receivables 7 - 886,221 886,221

7,996,483 886,221 8,882,710

Weighted average interest rate 3.83%

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other Payables 13 - 1,466,374 1,466,374

- 1,466,374 1,466,374

2011

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 8,022,913 - 8,022,913

Receivables 7 - 619,281 619,281

8,022,913 619,281 8,642,194

Weighted average interest rate 5.66%

Financial Liabilities

Payables 13 - 544,588 544,588

- 544,588 544,588

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments 
at balance date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the 
reporting period. A 165 (2011: 150) basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the change in interest rates, based on the analysis of the 
absolute nominal change of the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) monthly issued cash rate for the past five financial years.

At balance date, if interest rates had been 165 (2011: 150) basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, 
the Group’s net profit and loss and other equity reserves would be affected as follows:

Sensitivity Effect On: Effect on:

Risk Variable
2012

$
2011 

$

Profit/Loss 
2012

$

Profit/Loss 
2011

$

Equity  
2012

$

Equity
2011

$

Interest Rate +1.65% +1.50% 210,487 82,899 210,487 82,899

-1.65% -1.50% (210,487) (82,899) (210,487) (82,899)
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NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
e) Credit risk management 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the  
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral  
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities that 
are considered reputable and creditworthy. This information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if 
not available, the Group uses publicly available financial information, trade references and its own trading record to rate its major 
customers. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value  
of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that  
are reviewed by the Board periodically.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks 
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowance for losses, represents the  
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

f) Liquidity risk management 
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have built an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

g) Commodity price risk 
The Group is exposed to commodity price risk in relation to the gold price. The Board monitors the gold price and its affect on the 
Company’s share price (as a result of expected exploration success) and also its affect on the Group’s ability to raise further equity 
capital. The Group’s objective is to maximise the returns from the sale of tribute gold and exploration success.

h) Fair value of financial instruments 
The fair values of all financial assets and liabilities of the Group approximate their carrying values.

NOTE 19: OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
Leases as lessee
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2012 
$

2011 
$

Less than one year 119,288 1,413,519

Between one and five years 37,928 25,142

More than 5 years - -

157,216 1,438,661

The Company leases office premises in both Guyana and Perth, Western Australia under an operating lease. The lease periods run 
for four years and two years, and commenced on February 1, 2010 and December 1, 2011 respectively. Other lease commitments 
include residential properties leased for expatriate employees.

During the year ended 30 June 2012 an amount of $79,099 (2011: $37,124) was recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income in respect of operating leases.

The Company has also contracted drill rigs to conduct drilling programs at 30 June 2012. The minimum payments under the 
drilling contracts amount to $254,499 (2011: $2,011,360).  
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NOTE 20: CASH FLOW INFORMATION  
Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with loss after income tax:

2012 
$

2011 
$

Loss for the year (3,192,941) (3,388,858)

Add back – Non-cash items:

Share based payments expense 1,022,696 720,678

Exploration expenditure written off due to sale/surrender - 161,796

Non cash employee benefits expense (1,382) 315,601

Depreciation and amortisation 42,597 43,876

Loss on sale of plant and equipment - 11,923

Impairment expense (85,155) -

Profit on sale of non-current assets held for sale 136,899 -

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (620,597) 1,080,403

Changes in assets and liabilities

Movement in trade and other receivables (240,882) 12,548

Movement in inventories (439,599) 14,099

Movement in trade and other payables 673,163 350,367

Movement in provisions 130,620 -

Cash flows used in operations (2,574,581) (677,567)

Non-cash financing and investing activities

Shares issued on acquisition of mineral tenements 2,805,000 -

On 17 February 2012 the Company issued 3,000,000 ordinary shares as part consideration for certain prospecting permits in 
Guyana. The shares were valued at $0.935, being the closing trading price on the ASX on that date.
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NOTE 21: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Azimuth Resources Ltd and the subsidiaries 
listed in the following table:

Country of Incorporation
Percentage Ownership

2012 2011

Delta Metals Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Takatu Minerals Limited Canada 100% 100%

Pharsalus Gold BVI Inc British Virgin Islands 100% 100%

Pharsalus BVI Inc British Virgin Islands 100% 100%

Pharsalus Gold Inc Guyana 100% 100%

Pharsalus Inc Guyana 100% 100%

Azimuth Resources Limited is the ultimate Australian parent entity and ultimate parent of the Group.

Delta Metals Pty Ltd was incorporated on 1 January 2008 as a subsidiary of Azimuth for the purpose of investment in exploration 
assets. Azimuth holds 100% of the $1 interest in Delta Metals which has remained dormant since its incorporation. Delta Metals 
has no assets or liabilities at the reporting date or any revenue or expenses for the current and comparative reporting period. 

Takatu Minerals Ltd was acquired on 14 January 2010. 

Pharsalus Gold BVI Inc, Pharsalus BVI Inc, Pharsalus Gold Inc and Pharsalus Inc have financial year ends of 31 December. 

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the subsidiaries to transfer funds to the parent entity to pay dividends or loans.

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been 
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Transactions with Directors
Transactions between related parties are on commercial terms and conditions, no more favourable than those available to other 
parties unless otherwise stated.

Oyster Consulting Pty Ltd, a Company of which Mr Dean Felton is a Director, was paid Director’s fees of $54,500 (2011: $35,000).

Javelin Minerals Inc, a Company in which Mr Dominic O’Sullivan has a beneficial interest, was paid fees totalling $225,000 (2011: 
$174,543). 

Greatcity Corporation Pty Ltd, a Company in which Mr Richard Monti has a beneficial interest, was paid fees totalling $216,000 
(2011: $138,548).

Dominic O’Sullivan was loaned $11,582 (2011: $0) for rent and utilities in Guyana, with a balance of $nil owing at 30 June 2012.

NOTE 22: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Azimuth Resources Ltd and the subsidiaries listed in the 
following table:

Share-based payments
2012 

$
2011 

$

Options issued to directors - 430,200

Options issued to employees 1,022,696 290,478

1,022,696 720,678
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NOTE 22: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
 
Employee and Consultant’s Option Plan (ECOP)
The Company operates an ownership-based scheme for employees and consultants of the Group. In accordance with the provisions 
of the plan, approved by shareholders at a general meeting held in July 2010, employees and consultants who are considered critical 
to the Company’s operations and management may be granted unlisted options to purchase shares in the Company, on terms set at 
the discretion of the Board, in consultation with the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
Each option converts into one ordinary share of Azimuth Resources Limited on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the 
recipient on receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any 
time from the date of vesting to the date of expiry.
The number of options granted is determined by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and subsequently approved by the 
Board. The assessment of the employees and consultants takes into account the key milestones achieved by the Company during 
the period and each employee or consultant’s contribution towards those milestones.
The options expire approximately three years from the date of issue, or three months from the resignation of the employee or 
consultant, whichever is the earlier. The Board may utilise its discretion to allow resigning employees or consultants additional time 
in which the option may be exercised, within the original term of the option.
Directors are not included in the ECOP, as the Company obtains shareholder approval for all directors share based payments at 
general meetings.
On 24 October 2011 and 17 January 2012, the Company issued a total of 5,250,000 options under the Company’s Employees and 
Consultants Option Plan (‘ECOP’). 

Options issued to Directors and Employees 
The details of the options issued to Directors and employees are as follows:

2012

Terms & Conditions for each Grant

Vested

Granted

No %Employees
No 

Granted Grant Date

Fair Value 
at Grant 

Date

Exercise 
Price per 

Option
Expiry 

Date

First 
Exercise 

Date

Last 
Exercise 

Date

ECOP Tranche 3 1,500,000 24/10/11 $0.2543 $0.70 30/09/14 24/10/11 30/09/14 1,500,000 100%

ECOP Tranche 3 1,500,000 24/10/11 $0.2264 $0.90 30/09/14 24/10/11 30/09/14 1,500,000 100%

ECOP Tranche 4 975,000 17/01/12 $0.3007 $0.70 17/01/15 17/01/13 17/01/15 - -

ECOP Tranche 4 975,000 17/01/12 $0.2660 $0.90 17/01/15 17/01/13 17/01/15 - -

ECOP Tranche 5 150,000 17/01/12 $0.3007 $0.70 17/01/15 17/01/12 17/01/15 150,000 100%

ECOP Tranche 5 150,000 17/01/12 $0.2660 $0.90 17/01/15 17/01/12 17/01/15 150,000 100%
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Grant Dated Expiry Date
Exercise 

Price

Movement During Year
Issued 
under 
ECOP

Number at 
beginning of 

year Issued Exercised
Expiry 

Date
Number at  
end of year

14/1/10 31/12/12 $0.04 12,602,200 - (8,817,580) - 3,784,620 No

14/1/10 31/12/12 $0.18 9,900,000 - (3,060,000) - 6,840,000 No

19/1/10 31/12/12 $0.10 9,000,000 - (7,166,666) - 1,833,334 No

13/8/10 31/8/12 $0.10 750,000 - (500,000) - 250,000 Yes

13/8/10 13/8/13 $0.10 600,000 - (425,000) - 175,000 Yes

13/8/10 13/8/14 $0.10 600,000 - - (175,000) 425,000 Yes

18/5/11 30/4/14 $0.371 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 No

30/5/11 30/5/14 $0.42 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 Yes

24/10/11 30/09/14 $0.70 - 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 Yes

24/10/11 30/09/14 $0.90 - 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 Yes

17/01/12 17/01/15 $0.70 - 1,125,000 - - 1,125,000 Yes

17/01/12 17/01/15 $0.90 - 1,125,000 - - 1,125,000 Yes

37,952,200 5,250,000 (19,969,246) (175,000) 23,057,954

During the year 19,969,246 options were exercised to take up ordinary shares (2011: 1,000,000). As at the year end the Company had 
a total of 23,057,954 (2011: 37,952,200) unissued ordinary shares on which options are outstanding with a weighted average exercise 
price of 32.9 cents (2011: 13.5 cents). The weighted average remaining contractual life of all share options outstanding at the end of 
the financial year is 1.2 years (2011: 1.7 years).

Fair value of options granted
The fair value at grant date of the Director and ECOP options has been determined using a Black & Scholes option pricing model 
that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the 
share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest 
rate for the term of the option.

NOTE 22: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
 
The movements of options issued under share based payment transactions are detailed below:

The table below summarises the model inputs for Director and Employee options granted during the year:

Model Inputs
ECOP 

Tranche 3
ECOP 

Tranche 3
ECOP 

Tranche 4&5
ECOP 

Tranche 4&5

1. Options granted for no consideration 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,125,000 1,125,000

2. Exercise price (cets) 70 90 70 90

3. Approval date 24 Oct 11 24 Oct 11 17 Jan 12 17 Jan 12

4. Expiry Date 30 Sept 14 30 Sept 14 17 Jan 15 17 Jan 15

5. Underlying security spot price at approval date 
(cents) 49.5 49.5 58.5 58.5

6. Expected date volatility of the company’s shares 91% 91% 84% 84%

7. Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0%

8. Risk-free interest rate 3.95% 3.95% 3.25% 3.25%

Black & Scholes Valuation per Option 0.2543 0.2264 0.3007 0.2660
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NOTE 22: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The table below summarises the model inputs for Director and Employee options granted during the prior year:

Model Inputs
ECOP 

Tranche 1
ECOP 

Tranche 1
ECOP 

Tranche 1
ECOP 

Tranche 2
Director 
Options 

1. Options granted for no consideration: 750,000 625,000 625,000 1,500,000 3,000,000

2. Exercise price (cents): 10 10 10 42 37.1

3. Approval date: 16/08/10 16/08/10 16/08/10 30/05/11 17/05/11

4. Expiry date: 31/08/12 14/08/13 14/08/14 30/05/14 30/04/14

5. Underlying security spot price at  
approval date (cents): 6 6 6 30 26.5

6. Expected price voliatility of the  
company’s shares 75% 75% 75% 94% 94%

7. Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

8. Risk-free interest rate 4.50% 4.54% 4.62% 4.86% 5.10%

Black & Scholes Valuation per Option 0.0175 0.0233 0.0283 0.1634 0.1434

The expected price volatility is based on the 12 month historic volatility of the Company.

NOTE 23: DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES DISCLOSURES
(a) Details of Key Management Personnel

(i) Directors
Michael Hunt	 Chairman (Non-Executive)

Richard Monti	 Executive Director

Dominic O’Sullivan	 Managing Director/Executive Director/President (Non-Executive from 1/7/12)

Dean Felton	 Non-Executive Director

Terence Sean Harve	 Non-Executive Director (appointed 23 April 2012)

(ii) Executives
Paul Criddle	 Chief Operations Officer

Joshua Ward	 Company Secretary/Financial Controller

Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report.
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(b) Option holdings of Key Management Personnel

30 June 2012
Opening 
balance

Granted as 
remuner-

ation
Options 

exercised

Net 
change 

Other (1)
Closing 
balance

Balance 
vested at  

30 June

Vested 
but not 

exercisable
Vested and 
exercisable

Options 
vested 
during 

year

Directors

Michael Hunt 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 -

Dominic 
O’Sullivan 7,817,580 - (7,817,580) - - - - - -

Dean Felton 333,334 - - - 333,334 333,334 - 333,334 -

Richard Monti 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - - - -

T. Sean Harvey - - - - - - - - -

Executives

Paul Criddle - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 3,000,000

Joshua Ward - 300,000 (500,000) 500,000 300,000 300,000 - 300,000 300,000

Total 13,650,914 3,300,000 (10,817,580) 500,000 6,633,334 6,633,334 - 6,633,334 3,300,000

(1) Options held at time of becoming Key Management Personnel

30 June 2011
Opening 
balance

Granted as 
remuner-

ation
Options 

exercised

Net 
change 

Other (1)
Closing 
balance

Balance 
vested at  

30 June

Vested 
but not 

exercisable
Vested and 
exercisable

Options 
vested 
during 

year

Directors

Bruce 
Larson(1) 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - - - - 1,000,000

Michael Hunt - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 3,000,000

Dominic 
O’Sullivan 7,817,580 - - - 7,817,580 7,817,580 - 7,817,580 5,000,000

Dean Felton 333,334 - - - 333,334 333,334 - 333,334 333,334

Richard Monti 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 1,500,000

Total 11,650,914 3,000,000 - (1,000,000) 13,650,914 13,650,914 - 13,650,914 10,833,334

(1) Options held upon resignation as a director.

NOTE 23: DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES DISCLOSURES (continued)
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(b) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel

30 June 2012
Opening 
balance

Granted as 
remuner-

ation
Options 

exercised

Net 
change 

Other (i)
Closing 
balance

Balance 
held 

nominally

Directors

Michael Hunt 677,631 - - 55,000 732,631 732,631

Dominic 
O’Sullivan(a) 23,468,428 - 7,817,580 (3,000,000) 28,286,008 27,286,008

Dean Felton 167,262 - - - 167,262 -

Richard Monti 6,543,651 - 2,500,000 9,043,651 9,043,651

T. Sean Harvey - - - - - -

Executives

Paul Criddle - - - - - -

Joshua Ward 409,139 - 500,000 - 909,139 -

Total 31,266,111 - 10,817,580 (2,945,000) 39,138,691 37,062,290

(i)	 Michael Hunt purchased 55,000 shares on market. Dominic O’Sullivan sold 1,000,000 
shares on market and transferred 2,000,000 shares off-market.

NOTE 23: DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES DISCLOSURES (continued)

30 June 2011
Opening 
balance

Granted as 
remuner-

ation
Options 

exercised

Net 
change 

Other 
Closing 
balance

Balance 
held 

nominally

Directors

Bruce 
Larson(1) 735,000 - - (735,000) - -

Michael Hunt 100,000 - - 577,631 677,631 677,631

Dominic 
O’Sullivan 23,205,928 - - 262,500 23,468,428 23,468,428

Dean Felton 62,000 - - 105,262 167,262 -

Richard Monti 5,966,020 - - 577,631 6,543,651 6,543,651

Total 30,068,948 - - 788,024 30,856,972 30,689,710

(1) Bruce Larson retired as a director during the year. Net change is balance held at  
date of retirement. 

All equity transactions with key management personnel other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options  
have been entered into under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the Group would have adopted if dealing  
at arm’s length.

(j) Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel
During the period, a total of AUD$25,745 (GYD$5,149,082) (2011: AUD$13,125 (GYD$2,640,576)) was loaned to, and repaid by 
Dominic O’Sullivan. There are no amounts outstanding at 30 June 2012 (2011:Nil).

During the period, a total of AUD$7,763 (GYD$1,552,674) (2011: Nil) was loaned to, and repaid by Paul Criddle. There are no 
amounts outstanding at 30 June 2012 (2011:Nil).

Terms and Conditions of loans
Loans to directors and executives are advances on salary payments provided by Pharsalus Gold Inc, and are interest free.  
Loans are generally repaid the month following, or deducted from the KMP’s subsequent monthly pay.
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NOTE 24: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURE

Financial Position
2012 

$
2011 

$

Assets

Current assets 6,486,782 8,080,502

Non-current assets1 47,305,476 23,162,890

Total assets 53,792,258 31,243,392

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 612,140 451,989

Non-current liabilities - -

Total liabilities 612,140 451,989

Financial Position
2012 

$
2011 

$

Equity

Issued capital 61,561,578 38,676,903

Accumulated losses (10,536,240) (9,875,350)

Share Based Payment Reserve 2,154,780 1,989,850

Total equity 53,180,118 30,791,403

Financial Performance

Loss for the year (1,518,657) (2,729,124)

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive loss (1,518,657) (2,729,124)

The parent entity has not provided any guarantees, and does not have any capital 
commitments or contingent liabilities at 30 June 2012. 

(1)	 Non current assets include intercompany loans owed from subsidiary companies 
which are considered recoverable based on exploration results to date.

2012 
$

2011 
$

Amounts payable to auditor of parent entity

Audit services - payable to HLB Mann Judd 43,470 30,000

Audit services – payable to Butler Settineri - 3,631

Non Audit Services - -

43,470 33,631

Amounts paid or payable to auditors of subsidiaries

Audit services 7,743 5,189

Non Audit Services - -

7,743 5,189

NOTE 25: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
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NOTE 26: SEGMENT REPORTING
Identification of reportable segments
The group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors 
(the chief operating decision maker) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.

The operating segments are identified by management based on the location of activity. Discrete financial information about each of 
these locations is reported to the Board of Directors on at least a monthly basis.

Reportable segments requiring disclosure are operating segments that meet any of the following thresholds:

• Segment loss greater than 10% of combined loss of loss making operating segments; and

• Segment assets greater than 10% of combined assets of all operating segments.

In accordance with AASB 8, the reportable segments are based on aggregated operating segments determined by the similarity of 
the locations, as these are the sources of the Group’s major risks and have the most effect on the rates of return.

Once reportable segments have been identified, all remaining segments that do not satisfy the thresholds are to be aggregated 
together to form an all other segments reporting segment. In accordance with AASB 8 Segment Reporting corporate and 
administration activities are included in the ‘all other segments’ reporting segment.

Geographical Segment – primary reporting segment
The Group has 2 reportable segments, being Guyanese gold exploration and ‘All Other Segments’, which consists of Australian 
exploration and evaluation and corporate and administrative costs, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The strategic 
business units are monitored separately because they are governed by different regulatory regimes. 

Revenues included in ‘All Other Segments’ relate predominantly to bank interest.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 1. 

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segment:

2012
Guyana 

$

Other 
segments 

$
Consolidated 

$

Segment revenues 22,015 758,482 780,497

Segment loss (1,008,730) (2,184,211) (3,192,941)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from gold sales, foreign currency exchange 
gain and profit on sale of non-current asset held for sale. Inter-segment revenues/expenses totalling $90,000 
in relation to corporate and management service fees $575,555 in relation to interest on intercompany loans 
have been eliminated from the above disclosure.

Segment assets 51,432,987 6,546,375 57,979,362

Segment liabilities (6,876,310) (612,139) (7,488,449)

Other segment information included in segment loss

Amortisation (7,154) - (7,154)

Central administration costs and directors fees (157,734) (1,269,916) (1,427,650)

Depreciation (29,581) (5,863) (35,444)

Interest received 1,899 613,364 615,263

Interest paid - (130) (130)
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NOTE 26: SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

2011
Guyana 

$

Other 
segments 

$
Consolidated 

$

Segment revenues 37,451 284,227 321,678

Segment loss (659,734) (2,729,124) (3,388,858)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from interest, gold sales and a foreign 
currency exchange gain on an intercompany loan.  There were no inter-segment revenues or expenses during 
the year ended 30 June 2011.

Segment assets 28,103,201 8,084,129 36,187,330

Segment liabilities (5,984,053) (451,990) (6,436,043)

Other segment information included in segment loss

Depreciation (32,588) (3,703) (36,291)

Amortisation (7,585) - (7,585)

Interest revenue 526 284,157 284,683

NOTE 27: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On 1 July 2012 Mr Dominic O’Sullivan resigned as an executive director, however he will continue in a non-executive  
capacity, and provide services on a consultancy basis. 

On 10 August 2012, 17,142,857 shares at $0.35 per share were issued to sophisticated and institutional investors, raising  
$6,000,000 before costs. 

On 21 August 2012, a total of 250,000 unlisted options were exercised at 10 cents each, providing funding of $25,000 to  
the Group.

On 18 September 2012, the Company announced the acquisition of 576km2 at the Company’ East and West Omai projects,  
for staged cash and share payments to various vendors. 

Other than the above, no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected  
or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in 
subsequent financial years.

NOTE 28: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities that may arise from the Group’s operations as at 30 June 2012  
(2011: Nil).
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In the Directors’ opinion:

a) �the financial statements and notes set out on pages 38 to 69 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:

	 i. �giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance 
for the year ended on that date; and

	 ii. �complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001, professional 
reporting requirements, and other mandatory requirements; 

b) �there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and

c) �the financial statements and notes thereto are in compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

This declaration is made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 2012.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors pursuant to s.295(5) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Board

Richard Monti
Executive Director
Perth
13 September 2012
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Additional information required by the ASX Limited Listing Rules not disclosed 
elsewhere in this Annual Report is set out below.

Shareholdings
The issued capital of the Company at 30 September 2012 is 418,911,161 ordinary fully paid shares.   
All ordinary shares carry one vote per share.

No Shareholder
No of Shares 

held
Held

%

1 MACQUARIE BANK LIMITED 56,990,928 13.61

2 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES  AUSTRALIA 37,887,080 9.04

3 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 31,391,226 7.49

4 JAVELIN MINERALS INC 27,286,008 6.51

5 MACQUARIE BANK LIMITED  METALS & ENERGY CAP DIV A/C 14,708,644 3.51

6 GOORNONG GEES MINING LTD 12,378,640 2.95

7 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 12,119,399 2.89

8 GREATCITY CORPORATION PTY LTD  RICHARD MONTI A/C  9,043,651 2.16

9 RIVERVIEW CORPORATION PTY LTD 8,602,462 2.05

10 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES   AUSTRALIA 6,609,107 1.58

11 JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 5,662,622 1.35

12 MR TIMOTHY GUY LYONS 5,301,816 1.27

13 SPAR NOMINEES PTY LTD 5,075,714 1.21

14 PERTH INVESTMENT CORPORATION LTD 4,009,172 0.96

15 CANADIAN REGISTER CONTROL 3,271,961 0.78

16 KAHALA KEYS PTY LTD 3,268,545 0.78

17 MARFORD GROUP PTY LTD 3,202,606 0.76

18 MARFORD GROUP PTY LTD 3,121,053 0.75

19 MR SIRO YAMASHITA 3,000,000 0.72

20
MR DAVID WARREN LANGDON + MRS SUSAN LANGDON  

 KEDS LANGDON SUPER FUND A/C 2,600,000 0.62

255,530,634 60.99
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Shares Range

No of 
Holders 

$
No of Shares 

$

1 – 1,000 403 157,702

1,001 – 5,000 786 2,308,483

5,001 – 10,000 571 4,815,135

10,001 – 100,000 1,486 55,588,730

100,001 and over 331 356,041,111

3,577 418,911,161

Number holding less than a marketable parcel size of  
1,235 shares at $0.35 per share 409 163,874

Shareholders by Location

No of 
Holders 

$
No of Shares 

$

Australian holders 3,413 407,503,453

Overseas holders 164 11,407,708

3,577 418,911,161

Voting Rights
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, on a show of hands every shareholder present in person  
or by proxy, attorney or representative of a shareholder has one vote and on a poll every shareholder present  
in person or by proxy, attorney or representative of a shareholder has in respect of fully paid shares, one vote 
for every share held. No class of option holder has a right to vote, however the shares issued upon exercise  
of options will rank pari passu with the then existing issued fully paid ordinary shares.

Substantial Shareholders as at 31 August 2012

No Shareholder
No of Shares 

Held
Held 

%

1 MACQUARIE BANK LIMITED 72,267,290 17.25

2 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES  AUSTRALIA 37,887,080 9.04

3 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 31,391,226 7.49
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ASX Additional Information
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Options
The Company currently has the following classes of unlisted options to acquire ordinary shares  
on issue as at 31 August 2012.

Exercise Price Expiry Date No of Options

$0.04 31 December 2012 3,784,620

$0.18 31 December 2012 6,840,000

$0.10 31 December 2012 1,833,334

$0.10 13 August 2013 175,000

$0.10 13 August 2014 425,000

$0.371 30 April 2014 3,000,000

$0.42 30 May 2014 1,275,000

$0.70 30 September 2014 1,500,000

$0.90 30 September 2014 1,500,000

$0.70 17 January 2015 1,125,000

$0.90 17 January 2015 1,125,000

22,582,954

Exercise 
Price Expiry Date

No. of options 
held

% of 
class

1 Mr Robert Power $0.04 31 December 2012 1,538,460 40.7%

2 Mr Wesley Feaver $0.04 31 December 2012 1,246,160 32.9%

3 Riverview Corporation Pty Ltd $0.04 31 December 2012 1,000,000 26.4%

1 Riverview Corporation Pty Ltd $0.10 31 December 2012 1,500,000 81.8%

1 BMO Nesbit Burns Inc $0.18 31 December 2012 6,000,000 87.7%

1 Mr Michael Rodrigues $0.10 13 August 2013 100,000 57.1%

2 Mr Roger Janki $0.10 13 August 2013 50,000 28.6%

1 Mr Michael William Hunt $0.371 30 April 2014 3,000,000 100%

1 Ms Linda Jeanne Lucia Heesterman $0.42 30 May 2014 500,000 39.2%

2 Mr Kent Geoffrey Wighton $0.42 30 May 2014 300,000 23.5%

1 Mr Robert Power $0.10 13 August 2014 150,000 35.3%

2 Mr Michael Rodrigues $0.10 13 August 2014 150,000 35.3%

1 Mr Paul Andrew Criddle $0.70 30 September 2014 1,500,000 100%

1 Mr Paul Andrew Criddle $0.90 30 September 2014 1,500,000 100%

1 Mr Aaron McLeod $0.70 17 January 2015 750,000 66.7%

2 Mr Kent Geoffrey Wighton $0.70 17 January 2015 225,000 20%

1 Mr Aaron McLeod $0.90 17 January 2015 750,000 66.7%

2 Mr Kent Geoffrey Wighton $0.90 17 January 2015 225,000 20%

The following unlisted option holders hold more than 20% of a class of the Company’s unlisted options:
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Schedule of Mineral Tenements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule 

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned

Notes
(1)

Daniels, Victor;  Adams, 
Jason & Adams, Carl. GS8: D-210/000/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Daniels, Victor;  Adams, 
Jason & Adams, Carl. GS8: D-210/001/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Daniels, Victor;  Adams, 
Jason & Adams, Carl. GS8: D-210/002/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Daniels, Victor;  Adams, 
Jason & Adams, Carl. GS8: D-210/003/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8: B-294/001/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8: B-294/004/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8: B-380/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-293/000/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-294/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-294/003/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-294/005/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-294/006/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-294/007/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-294/008/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-295/000/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-295/001/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-296/003/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-296/004/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100% 3

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-297/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-297/001/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-297/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-297/003/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-297/004/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-297/005/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-297/006/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-317/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-317/001/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-382/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/000/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/001/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/002/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/003/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/004/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/005/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/006/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/007/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%
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Schedule of Mineral Tenements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/008/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/009/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/010/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B235/011/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/000/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/001/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/002/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/003/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/004/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/005/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/006/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/007/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/008/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/009/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/010/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/011/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/012/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/013/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/014/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/015/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/016/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/017/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/018/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/019/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/020/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/022/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/023/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/024/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/025/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/026/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/027/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/028/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/029/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/033/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/034/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/035/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/036/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/037/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%



AZIMUTH RESOURCES LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2012 PAGE 79 

Schedule of Mineral Tenements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/038/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/040/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/041/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/042/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/043/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/044/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B262/045/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/000/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/001/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/002/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/003/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/004/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/005/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/006/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/008/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/009/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/010/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/011/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/012/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B300/013/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B301/003/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B301/009/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B301/012/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B301/018/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B302/004/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/000/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/001/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/002/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/004/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/005/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/006/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/009/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/010/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/011/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/012/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/013/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/014/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/018/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%
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Schedule of Mineral Tenements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/019/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/022/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/024/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/025/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/027/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/028/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/029/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/030/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/031/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/032/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/033/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/034/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/035/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/036/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/037/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/038/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/039/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/001/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/004/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/007/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/009/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/010/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/011/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/013/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/014/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/015/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/017/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/018/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/019/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/020/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/021/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/022/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/023/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/024/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/025/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/026/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/027/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/028/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%
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Schedule of Mineral Tenements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/019/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/022/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/024/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/025/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/027/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/028/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/029/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/030/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/031/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/032/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/033/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/034/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/035/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/036/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/037/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/038/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B304/039/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/001/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/004/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/007/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/009/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/010/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/011/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/013/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/014/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/015/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/017/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/018/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/019/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/020/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/021/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/022/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/023/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/024/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/025/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/026/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/027/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/028/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%



AZIMUTH RESOURCES LIMITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2012PAGE 82 

Schedule of Mineral Tenements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/029/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/030/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/031/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/032/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/033/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/034/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/035/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/036/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/037/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/038/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/039/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/040/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/041/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/043/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/044/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/045/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/046/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/047/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/048/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/049/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/050/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/055/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/056/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/057/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/058/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/059/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/065/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/066/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B305/070/08 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Budhram, S. GS8: B306/000/07 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit 100% 100%

Chase, Brian(&  
Duncan Reynold) 31/1994/072 Small Scale Claim Licence 100% 100%

Chase, Brian(&  
Duncan Reynold) 31/1994/073 Small Scale Claim Licence 100% 100%

Chase, Brian(&  
Duncan Reynold) 31/1994/074 Small Scale Claim Licence 100% 100%

Chase, Brian(&  
Duncan Reynold) 31/1994/075 Small Scale Claim Licence 100% 100%

Chase, Brian(&  
Duncan Reynold) 31/1994/076 Small Scale Claim Licence 100% 100%
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Schedule of Mineral Tenements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Chase, Brian 31/1994/071 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 5

Chase, Brian 31/1994/247 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 5

Chase, Brian 31/1994/248 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 5

Chilcott, Rodwell 31/1994/309 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 6

Chilcott, Rodwell 31/1994/310 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 6

Chilcott, Rodwell 31/1994/311 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 6

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited  31/1988/020 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/019 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/020 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/021 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/022 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/023 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/024 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/025 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/026 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/027 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/028 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/029 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/030 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/031 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/032 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/033 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/034 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/035 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/036 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/037 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7
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Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/038 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/039 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/040 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1981/041 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1986/002 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1986/003 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1986/004 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1986/039 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1986/040 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1987/035 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1987/037 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1987/038 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1987/039 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1987/040 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1988/017 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1988/018 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited 31/1988/019 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1991/083 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1991/084 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1991/085 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

Kaburi Development 
Company Limited 31/1991/086 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited

GS8: H44/000/06 (old: 
GS8: H-44/000/94) Medium Scale Prospecting  Permit -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited GS8: H44/001/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 7

George Hicks Mining 
Company Limited

ML 02/2009 Formerly 
MGS 1/1998 Licence Large Scale Mining Licence -* 100% 7
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Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Lewis, Orin L-11/MP/000/10 Medium Scale Mining Permit 100% 100%

Lewis, Orin L-11/MP/001/10 Medium Scale Mining Permit 100% 100%

Lewis, Orin 31/2002/001 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Lewis, Orin 31/2002/002 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Lewis, Orin 31/2002/003 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Lewis, Orin 31/2002/004 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Lewis, Orin 31/2002/005 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Lewis, Orin; Chase, 
Brian; Trotz, Marlon GS14: L-6  Large Scale Prospecting Licence -* 100% 8

Pharsalus Gold Inc. GS14: P-18 (PL14/2008) 
Licence Large Scale Prospecting Licence 100% 100%

Pharsalus Gold Inc. GS14: P-19 (PL15/2008) 
Licence Large Scale Prospecting Licence 100% 100%

Pharsalus Gold Inc. GS14: P-20 (PL16/2008) 
Licence Large Scale Prospecting Licence 100% 100%

Campbell, Roxanne C-229/000/2005 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 9

Deleep Singh GS8:S-328/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 10

Deleep Singh GS8:S-328/005/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 10

Deleep Singh GS8:S-328/013/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 10

Deleep Singh GS8:S-328/016/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 10

Deleep Singh GS8:S-330/000/2007 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 10

Smartt, Leslie 31/1994/031 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1994/037 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1994/040 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1994/133 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 33/1999/082 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 33/1999/083 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1984/042 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1984/043 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1984/044 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1984/045 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1984/046 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1994/035 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/1994/036 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/2003/005 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/2003/006 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/2003/007 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/2003/008 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/2003/009 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/2003/010 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%
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Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Smartt, Leslie 31/2003/011 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 31/2003/012 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 33/1994/038 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 33/1999/064 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 33/1999/079 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 33/1999/080 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Smartt, Leslie 33/1999/081 Small Scale Claim Licence -* 100%

Sookram, Deonarine GS14:S-24 (PL13/2008) Large Scale Prospecting Licence -* 100% 11

Trotz, Marlon; (Chilcott, 
Rodwell)  31/1994/312 Small Scale Claim Licence 100% 100%

Trotz, Marlon; (Chilcott, 
Rodwell) 31/1994/308 Small Scale Claim Licence 100% 100%

P.Harding 33/2005/143 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

P.Harding 33/2005/144 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

P.Harding 33/2005/145 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

P.Harding 33/2005/146 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

P.Harding 33/2005/147 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

P.Harding 33/2005/148 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

P.Harding 33/2005/149 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

P.Harding 33/2005/150 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

P.Harding 33/2005/151 Small Scale Claim Licence - 90% 12

Harding, P, & Belle, C.
GS8: B-21/000/08  
(old file number 
GS8:B-21/000/1994) 

Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P, & Belle, C. GS8: B-21/001/08 (Old no. 
B-21/001/1994) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P & V. Daniels GS8: D-32/000/94 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P & V. Daniels GS8: D-32/001/94 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-1/000/05 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-191/000/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/000/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/001/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/002/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/003/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/004/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/005/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/006/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/007/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/008/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/009/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/010/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12
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Table 1-1:  West Omai Tenement Schedule (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Harding, P GS8: H-194/011/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/012/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/013/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-194/014/06 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-52/000/95 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-61/000/95 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-61/001/95 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H-61/002/95 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

Harding, P GS8: H99/000/0300/2000 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit - 90% 12

West Kaburi Mining 
Company Inc

GS8: H99/001/0301/2000 
- Being converted to 
Mining Permit H34-
MP/2012

Medium Scale Prospecting /Mining 
Permit - 90% 12

West Kaburi Mining 
Company Inc

GS14: W-10 (PL# 
34/2009) Large Scale Prospecting Permits - 90% 12

Heber, Wayne GS-14 H-17 Large Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100%

David, Nelson 31/1993/088 Small Scale Prospecting Claim -* 100%

David, Nelson 31/1993/089 Small Scale Prospecting Claim -* 100%

David, Nelson 31/1993/090 Small Scale Prospecting Claim -* 100%

David, Nelson 31/1993/091 Small Scale Prospecting Claim -* 100%

David, Nelson 31/1993/092 Small Scale Prospecting Claim -* 100%

Broomes, Simona GS8:B-213/000/2005 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 14

Broomes, Simona GS8:B-213/001/2005 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 14

Broomes, Simona GS8:B-215/000/2005 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 14

Pereira Mining Company  
Limited ML 01/2012 Large Scale Mining Licence -* 100%

Golden Eruption 
Resources (Guyana) Inc.  PL 40/2011 Large Scale Prospecting  Licence -* 100%

Chin, Clinton C-235/000/06   
(PPMS/426/06) Large Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100%

Pereira, Julio &  
Pereira, Ryan P-16/MP/000/10 Medium Scale Mining Permit -* 100%

Pereira, Romeo GS8:P-196/000/06 
(PPMS/651/06) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100%

Pereira, Romeo GS8:P-196/001/06 
(PPMS/652/06) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100%

Pereira, Romeo GS8:P-196/002/06 
(PPMS/653/06) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100%

Pereira, Romeo GS8:P-190/000/06 
(PPMS/382/06) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100%

Pereira, Romeo GS8:P-190/000/06 
(PPMS/383/06) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100%

Pereira, Patrick    31/1973/590 Small Scale Prospecting Claim -* 100%

Pereira, Patrick    31/1979/05 Small Scale Prospecting Claim -* 100%
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Notes
Azimuth has the right to explore and acquire the tenements under various option agreements.   
The agreements require the future payment of cash 	and/or shares, and/or exploration expenditure commitments.  
Azimuth has not to date satisfied all the payment obligations under the respective agreements, or satisfied the  
minimum exploration expenditure commitments. 

1.	� Production royalties are payable to the Government of Guyana of a minimum of 5%.

2.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any  
time for US$1,000,000.

3.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any  
time for US$1,000,000.

4.	� Azimuth has the options to acquire a 100% interest in 57 medium scale prospecting and mining permits in consideration  
for the issue of 9 million Azimuth shares.

5.	� During the period of the option the vendors may operate up to 4 land dredges for the purpose of mining alluvial deposits.

6.	� During the period of the option the vendor has to the right to operate 2 land dredges, such right expiring upon the exercise  
of the option.

7.	� The Vendors are entitled to ongoing cash payments of US$50,000 per year, ceasing upon commencement of commercial 
production. The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production.  Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty 
once 750,000 ounces of mineral reserves have been proven, for US$5,000,000, plus US$1,000,000 for every $100 increment 
the gold price is above $500 per ounce.

8.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any time  
for US$1,000,000.

9.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any time  
for US$500,000.

10.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any time  
for US$1,000,000.

11.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any time for 
US$10 for each ounce of contained gold in reserve after a proven and probable JORC compliant reserve has been defined  
on the property.

12.	� Azimuth has the right to earn up to 90% interest in the Kaburi tenements in several stages. To earn the initial 50% interest, 
Azimuth must spend US$2,500,000 on or before 8 May 2014. Thereafter, Azimuth may earn an additional 10% interest in  
the tenements via further expenditure of US$2,400,000.  Thereafter Azimuth may increase its interest in the tenements to 
90%, in increments of 10% for each US$1,700,000 in completed expenditure. Once a decision to mine is made, the vendors 
retain a free-carried net profits interest equal to the interest not yet earned by Pharsalus.  Pharsalus may still increase its 
interest to 90% in accordance with the expenditure requirements following a decision  
to mine.

13.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any time  
for US$1,000,000 plus the issue of 1,000,000 ordinary shares in Azimuth.

14.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any time  
for US$1,500,000.

15.	� Azimuth has the option to acquire a 100% interest in the properties for payments to the Vendors of up to $1,550,000 and up 
to 3,000,000 ordinary shares in Azimuth. During the period of the option Azimuth has full rights to occupy, explore, prospect, 
mine or carry out related activities on the tenements, subject only to the vendors exclusive right to process mine tailings 
situated within Mining Licence ML 01/2012 ‘Honeycamp’ within a 4-year period from the signing of the agreement. Any gold 
which may be recovered from existing tailings by Azimuth following the expiry of the 4-year exclusion period is subject to a 
25% NSR payable to the Vendors. After the exercise of the option the Vendor is entitled to a 2% NSR royalty, which Azimuth 
has the option to purchase at any time for a cash payment of US$10,000,000.
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Table 10.1:  East Omai Tenement Schedule (105 Properties in Total)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Pharsalus Inc. PGGS 04/07 Permission for Geological and 
Geophysical Survey 100% 100% 1

Baksh, Azeem B-34/MP/000/10 Medium Scale Mining Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem B-34/MP/001/10 Medium Scale Mining Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-312/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-312/001/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-312/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-312/003/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-314/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-314/001/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-314/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-314/003/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-314/004/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-314/005/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-314/006/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-314/007/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-319/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-351/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-351/007/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-351/008/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-351/009/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-351/010/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-352/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/001/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/003/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/004/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/005/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/006/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2
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Table 10.1:  East Omai Tenement Schedule (105 Properties in Total) (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/007/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/008/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/009/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/010/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem+ Baksh, 
Azeem (Jnr) GS8:B-353/011/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-374/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-375/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-418/000/2009 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-418/001/2009 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Baksh, Azeem GS8:B-418/002/2009 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Deoraj Singh GS8:S-333/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Deoraj Singh GS8:S-333/001/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Deoraj Singh GS8:S-333/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Deoraj Singh GS8:S-333/003/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Deoraj Singh GS8:S-334/000/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Deoraj Singh GS8:S-334/001/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Deoraj Singh GS8:S-334/002/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Deoraj Singh GS8:S-334/003/2008 Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 2

Shepperd, Troy Oliver  
& Baksh, Azeem S-32/MP/000/10 Medium Scale Mining Permit -* 100% 2

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/002/2007 
(PPMS/350/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/003/2007 
(PPMS/351/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/004/2007 
(PPMS/352/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/005/200 
(PPMS/353/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/006/2007 
(PPMS/354/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/007/2007 
(PPMS/355/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/008/2007 
(PPMS/356/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/009/2007 
(PPMS/357/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/010/2007 
(PPMS/358/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-260/011/2007 
(PPMS/359/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-268/001/2007 
(PPMS/636/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3
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Table 10.1:  East Omai Tenement Schedule (105 Properties in Total) (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Sookram, Deonarine GS8:S-268/002/2007 
(PPMS/637/07) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 3

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/002/2008 
(PPMS/1816/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/003/2008 
(PPMS/1817/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/004/2008 
(PPMS/1818/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/008/2008 
(PPMS/1728/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/009/2008 
(PPMS/1729/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/011/2008 
(PPMS/1730/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/012/2008 
(PPMS/1731/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/013/2008 
(PPMS/285/10) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/014/2008 
(PPMS/1733/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/015/2008 
(PPMS/1734/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/016/2008 
(PPMS/1735/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/018/2008 
(PPMS/1736/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/019/2008 
(PPMS/1737/08) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/000/2009 
(PPMS/715/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/001/2009 
(PPMS/716/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/002/2009 
(PPMS/717/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/003/2009 
(PPMS/718/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/004/2009 
(PPMS/719/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/005/2009 
(PPMS/720/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/006/2009 
(PPMS/721/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/007/2009 
(PPMS/722/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-311/008/2009 
(PPMS/723/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/000/2009 
(PPMS/1250/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/001/2009 
(PPMS/1251/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/002/2009 
(PPMS/1252/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/003/2009 
(PPMS/1253/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4
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Schedule of Mineral Tenements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Table 10.1:  East Omai Tenement Schedule (105 Properties in Total) (continued)

Tenement  
Holder

GGMC  
File Number or 
claim HO number

Tenement  
Type

Azimuth’s 
current 
interest

Maximum 
interest 
capable 
of being 
earned Notes

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/004/2009 
(PPMS/1254/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/005/2009 
(PPMS/1255/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/006/2009 
(PPMS/1256/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/007/2009 
(PPMS/1257/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/008/2009 
(PPMS/1258/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/009/2009 
(PPMS/1259/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/010/2009 
(PPMS/1260/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/012/2009 
(PPMS/1261/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/013/2009 
(PPMS/1262/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-365/014/2009 
(PPMS/1263/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-388/000/2010 
(PPMS/455/2010) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-388/001/2010 
(PPMS/456/2010) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-388/002/2010 
(PPMS/457/2010) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-388/003/2010 
(PPMS/458/2010) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-389/000/2010 
(PPMS/459/2010) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-389/001/2010 
(PPMS/460/2010) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-367/000/2009 
(PPMS/1266/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-367/001/2009 
(PPMS/1267/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Charles, Donna GS8:C-366/006/2009 
(PPMS/1264/09) Medium Scale Prospecting Permit -* 100% 4

Notes

Azimuth has the right to explore and acquire the tenements under various option agreements. The agreements require the future 
payment of cash and/or shares, and/or exploration expenditure commitments.  Azimuth has not to date satisfied all the payment 
obligations under the respective agreements, or satisfied the minimum exploration expenditure commitments.

1.	� Production royalties are payable to the Government of Guyana of a minimum of 5%

2.	 Right to explore for gold, precious metals, and diamonds only.

3.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 2% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any time  
for US$10 for each ounce of contained gold in reserve after a proven and probable JORC compliant reserve has been  
defined on the property.

4.	� The Vendors are entitled to a 3% NSR royalty on production. Azimuth has the option to purchase the royalty at any time for  
a price to be agreed between the parties, following which Azimuth has an obligation to pay the Vendor US$3,000 per month 
until such time as mining operations commence on the properties.




